
BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS

LICENSING REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Meeting, Thursday, 5th September, 2019
   at 2.00 pm (Drawing Room)

A G E N D A
PART ONE

1.  Urgent Items

To note any items which the Chairman considers to be of an urgent 
nature. 

2.  Delegations

To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting.

3.  Admission of Public and Press

To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda.

4.  Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting).

Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.  

5.  Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members.  



6.  Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 27th June, 2019.

3 - 10

FOR DECISION 

(D) 7.  Delegated Decisions: March - July, 2019 
 

11 - 14

(D) 8.  Working Group Update 
 

15 - 22

(D) 9.  Zoo Inspection Reports 2019 - Cumbria Zoo Company Limited 
(CZCL) - Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 

23 - 88

NOTE (D) – Delegated
(R) – For Referral to Council

Membership of Committee
Councillors

Councillors Callister (Chairman)
Seward (Vice-Chair)
Assouad
Barlow
Biggins
Gawne
Hall
Maddox
R. McClure
McEwan
Mcleavy
Wall

For queries regarding this agenda, please contact:

Sharron Rushton
Democratic Services Officer
01229 876321
srushton@barrowbc.gov.uk

Published: Tuesday, 28th August, 2019



BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS

LICENSING REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Meeting: Thursday 27th June, 2019
at 2.00 pm. (Drawing Room)

PRESENT:- Councillors Callister (Chairman), Seward (Vice-Chairman), Assouad, 
Biggins, Gawne, Hall, R. McClure, W. McClure, Maddox and Wall.

Officers Present:- Graham Barker (Public Protection Manager), Ivor Churcher 
(Commercial Team Leader), Katherine Benson (Licensing Officer), Jane Holden 
(Principal Legal Officer) and Sharron Rushton (Democratic Services Officer).

Legal Representative:- Paul O’Donnell (Local Authority Retained Solicitor).

8 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors McEwan and McLeavy. 
Councillor W. McClure substituted for Councillor McLeavy for this meeting only.

9 – Declarations of Interest

Councillor Gawne declared an interest in Agenda Item No. 9 - Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle Licences (Minute No. 13) as he had received papers from the Licensing 
Trade.

Councillor Wall declared an interest in Agenda Item No. 8 - Applications for Street 
Collection Permits (Minute No. 12) as she was a volunteer for Help the Heroes 
Charity.

10 – Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 23rd May, 2019 were taken as read and 
confirmed.

11 – Application for a 1 day Event Street Trading Consent

The Application for a 1 day Event Street Trading Consent had been withdrawn by the 
applicant.

12 – Applications for Street Collection Permits

The Licensing Officer reported that two separate applications had been made to the 
Licensing Authority for street collection permits on behalf of Help for Heroes and St 
Mary’s Hospice.  Help for Heroes had requested a street collection permit for a 
collection which would take place on Saturday 29th June, 2019 between 10am and 
4pm and St Mary’s Hospice had requested a permit for the same date, between 
10am and 5pm.

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



The Licensing Authority had already granted a street collection permit to Barrow 
Street Angels on this date.  Current policy stated that once a particular date had 
been allocated to a charity, no further applications from other charities for the same 
date would be permitted.

The application therefore required Members to exercise their powers to hear 
applications to vary any limitations or term imposed on a consent, licence or 
permission, in accordance with Minute No. 1.3 (ii) of the current allocation Policy for 
street collections/flag days.

The applications were made in accordance with the Council’s Street Collection 
Regulations and within the required timescale of 1 month before the proposed date 
of collection.

The Police, Factories and (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 allowed Local 
Authorities to make regulations regarding the collection of money or selling of articles 
for the benefit of charitable or other purposes in a street or public place.

The current allocation policy for street collections/flag days was determined by 
Minute No. 150 (1990/91) and Minute No. 80 (1993/94) of the Licensing Sub-
Committee as follows:-

a) That it be adopted as policy that once a particular date had been allocated 
to a charity, no further application from other charities for the same date 
would be permitted;

b) No organisation would be granted more than one collection date in each 
calendar year;

c) That preference would continue to be given to charities that use money 
collected locally;

d) That no more than 50 street collection permits would be granted in a 
calendar year, such permits to be for collection days either on Fridays or 
Saturdays. No mid-week collections to be allowed;

e) Organisations must comply with the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness Street 
Collection Regulations and submit a statement of accounts following their 
street collection in order for similar applications to be considered in future 
years; and

f) Minute No. 1.3 (ii) resolves to vary current general allocation policy to 
enable the Sub-Committee and/or the Panel to receive applications for 
additional collections in cases of special celebrations relevant to individual 
charities from time to time.

This was Help for Heroes and St Mary’s Hospice first application for a permit this 
calendar year.

The Licensing Authority consults on all street collection permits with Cumbria County 
Council Highways, Cumbria Constabulary, Trading Standards and the Council’s 
Planning Department.  There had been no objections from consultees.

Page 4

Agenda Item 6



The applicants had been invited to attend today’s Committee and make 
representations.  A representative from St Mary’s Hospice attended the meeting and 
addressed the Committee.

RESOLVED:-

1. That the Street Collection Permit from St Mary’s Hospice and Help the Heroes 
be granted for Saturday 29th June, 2019 with or without conditions/restrictions 
specified by the Committee in accordance with the Street Collection 
Regulations;

2. That the Public Protection Manager be given delegated authority to accept 
and grant late street collection permits for this date only; and

3. That the Public Protection Manager establishes all of the names of the 
collectors for the Charities collecting on this date and going forward.

REFERRED ITEMS

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION

13 – Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences

The Public Protection Manager informed Members of the statutory provisions relating 
to the issue of Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences.

Historically, the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences had been capped by 
the Licensing Authority and Members considered this issue every three years. In 
November 2015, Members recommended to the Executive Committee that they 
approved the Quantity Control Policy on the maximum limit of hackney carriage 
vehicles which at that time was a maximum limit of 120 Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licences, albeit that 142 licences were in operation. This was approved at full 
Council in March 2016. Currently there were 135 hackney carriage vehicles licensed.

During the intervening period, Members were aware that considerable work had 
been undertaken to improve the provision of Hackney Carriage Stands (Taxi Ranks) 
in the Borough. Full Council had approved the Taxi Rank provision on 1st March, 
2018 (Minute No. 63(5)). This included formalising the rank in Cavendish Street and 
the introduction of new ranks in the Town Centre. 

Tri-annually, an Unmet Demand Survey was commissioned and undertaken, by an 
independent third party, to assess the Hackney Carriage (Taxi) provision in the 
Borough. This was due to be carried out in 2018, however with the introduction of 
new taxi ranks, Officers considered delaying until the taxi ranks had had time to 
establish themselves, before such a survey could be considered necessary.

The report details proposals for increasing the number of hackney carriage licences 
for wheelchair accessible vehicles only and asked Members to consider whether the 
Local Authority should carry out a pilot study of the hackney provision.  

The present legal provision on quantity restrictions for taxis (Hackney Carriages) 
outside London was set out in Section 16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provided 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



that the grant of a taxi licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number 
of licensed taxis ‘if, but only if,  the person authorised to grant licences was satisfied 
that there was no significant demand for the services of hackney carriages (within 
the area to which the licence would apply) which was unmet’

Decisions to refuse hackney carriage vehicle licences were subject to the right of 
appeal to the Crown Court. 

Section 47of the Local Government (Misc. Provisions) Act 1976, stated:

(1) A district council may attach to the grant of a licence of a hackney carriage 
under the Act of 1847 such conditions as the district council may consider 
reasonably necessary.
(2) Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing subsection, a district 
council may require any hackney carriage licensed by them under the Act of 1847 
to be of such design or appearance or bear such distinguishing marks as shall 
clearly identify it as a hackney carriage.

Any person aggrieved by any conditions attached to such a licence may appeal to a 
magistrates’ court.

In 2003, the Office of Fair Trading (OFT) conducted a market study into taxi licensing 
regulation. They concluded that where quantity restrictions were maintained by local 
authorities, it limited the availability of taxis, lowered the quality of service and such 
restrictions should be lifted. Removal of quantity restrictions was known as 
delimitation.

In 2004 the Government said that it agreed with the Office of Fair Trading's analysis 
but Local Council's should be left to decide what was appropriate. It promised to 
review progress in three years' time and if needed, explore legislative options. The 
National Consumer Council also urged those local authorities who currently 
maintained quantity controls to abandon them.

In 2006, guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the Department for Transport 
(DfT) made clear, that removing quantity controls was best practice and that policy in 
this area should be decided in terms of the interests of the travelling public.

Members were aware that the Department of Transport (DfT) recommended that all 
Local Authorities operating a cap or quantity control policy for hackney carriage 
vehicle licences must review this policy and publish the outcome. To retain such a 
policy the Office of Fair Trading recommended Licensing Authorities to undertake a 
survey every three years to justify the limit or cap.

Additionally, the Department of Transport had suggested that any limitation should 
be approached in terms of the interests of the travelling public - those who used taxi 
services:-

 What benefits or disadvantages arise for them as a result of the continuation 
of controls; 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



 What benefits or disadvantages would result for the public if the controls were 
removed; and 

 Was there evidence that removal of the controls would result in a deterioration 
in the amount or quality of taxi service provision.

On 23rd May 2014, the Law Commission published its report on taxi law reform and 
stated: ‘We do not regard the current statutory criterion of unmet demand as 
appropriate and instead suggest a test based on the public interest, combined with 
procedural requirements such as a review every three years and a duty to consult.’

Most recently, on 12th July, 2017 the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) 
published guidance on Regulation of taxis and private hire vehicles: understanding 
the impact on competition. 

As new taxi ranks had been formalised last year and with the recent increase in 
contractors within the construction industry and at BAE Systems, potentially 
providing an increase in demand, it was now opportune that an assessment of the 
taxi provision as a whole, was undertaken. This would enable the Council to 
determine whether or not the Local Authority should consider delimitation, as 
recommended in government guidance or continue to restrict the number of hackney 
carriages and engage the services of an independent consultancy.

There were arguments for both restriction and delimitation. Maintaining the present 
quota of 120 licences may have the following effects:-

 There was currently only one wheelchair accessible Hackney Carriage 
licensed;
The needs of disabled people, particularly those who required wheelchair 
accessible vehicles and were unable to hire a hackney carriage vehicle would 
not be addressed; 

 It denied individuals who believed there was unmet demand for taxi work 
within the Borough, from the opportunity of obtaining a licence and operating 
their own business;

 It prevented growth of the hackney carriage trade in areas of development 
and need across the town; 

 It maintained the taxi trades livelihoods and ‘value’ of their vehicle licences; 
and

 An Unmet Demand Survey would have to be undertaken in order to continue 
with a policy of limitation.

However, increasing the number of licences may have the following advantages:-

 It enabled market forces to determine the number of hackney carriages 
necessary to meet customer demand. This was particularly important in areas 
of development across the town, notably the continuing supply of contractors 
to BAE Systems and the newly established ranks;

 It increased the number of wheelchair accessible vehicles;
 It afforded existing drivers (who currently hire vehicles from operators) and 

others, the opportunity to own and operate their own vehicles;

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 It would provide an opportunity for more innovative ways of delivering taxi 
services, which met customer needs; and

 It followed Best Practice Guidelines; 

The Office of Fair Trading suggested the following benefits to consumers:-

 Increased the supply and choice of taxis and reduced passenger waiting 
times;

 Made journeys safer - reducing the need for illegal taxis where neither the 
driver nor vehicle had been subject to appropriate quality and safety checks; 

 Promoted best practice in Local Authorities application of quality and safety 
controls; and

 Protected people in vulnerable situations from overcharging, whilst 
encouraging the benefits of fare competition.

From time to time, Licensing Officers received enquiries from individuals and 
businesses, regarding applications for Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences. Since 1st 
June, 2019, the Council has received one application for a Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence, one pre-application enquiry from an existing private hire vehicle licence 
holder and information from a new business service who proposed to operate a fleet 
of hackney carriages. 

The Local Authority could refuse licences only if it could be satisfied that the there 
was no significant unmet demand. There was some uncertainty, for the reasons 
given above, that the current demand was being met in relation to the taxi provision 
and therefore an individual could challenge a decision to refuse.

Therefore, it was proposed to increase the current restriction of 120 hackney vehicle 
licences and permit any additional licences for Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 
(WAVs) only. Members may have wanted to satisfy themselves further and instruct 
the Reporting Officer to carry out a pilot study, to inform a decision that either 
considered:-

 A permanent delimitation based on public interest or 
 Continuing the restriction on the number of hackney carriage licences and 

undertake an Unmet Demand Survey. 

To allow for any pilot, Officers suggested a reasonable time of 6 months for this to be 
conducted. This would allow for an assessment in both the summer and winter 
months, reporting back to this Committee early in January 2020. This study would 
look to address the Department of Transports key questions:-

 What benefits or disadvantages arise for the public as a result of the 
continuation of controls; 

 What benefits or disadvantages would result for the public, if the controls were 
removed; and 

 Was there evidence that removal of the controls would result in a deterioration 
in the amount or quality of taxi service provision.

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



RECOMMENDED:- To recommend the Council:- 

1. To permanently delimit the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences, as 
suggested by government guidance; and

2. To establish a Work Group with Officers, Members and the Trade to discuss 
disability provision.

The meeting closed at 3.52 pm.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



  Part One

LICENSING REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 5th September, 2019

Reporting Officer:  Public Protection Manager    

(D)

Title: Licensing Delegated Decisions (March - July 2019)

Summary and Conclusions: 

This report summarises the decisions made under Part 3(2), Section I of the 
Constitution, Scheme of Delegations to Officers with regard to the Council’s 
Licensing functions and proposes a three monthly report to the Licensing 
Regulatory Committee on delegated decisions, following a review of the 
Public Protection Managers decisions from 7th March to 31st July 2019.

Recommendations: 

That Members consider the summary of decisions and also consider if a three 
monthly report of the decisions made under Part 3(2), Section I of the 
Constitution (Scheme of Delegations to Officers) with regard to the Council’s 
Licensing functions, adequately addresses the need for the Authority to 
ensure that there is regular analysis of delegated powers being used in 
accordance with the Council’s stated policies.

Report

At its meeting of the 7th March 2019, Members approved amendments to the 
Public Protection Manager’s delegated powers and Minute 37(iii) of that 
meeting required: 

‘that the Public Protection Manager submits, every 14 days, starting  the date 
of this committee meeting, all records of decisions made pursuant to these 
delegations to the following persons for review:-

(a) Assistant Director - Regeneration and Built Environment;
(b) Principal Legal Officer; 
(c) Chair of Licensing Regulatory Committee.

A review would take place after 3 months to ascertain if monthly submissions 
would be acceptable.’

I can confirm that this system of review has been implemented and that a 
fortnightly decision document has been submitted in accordance with the 
above Minute.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



Below is a summary of the delegated decisions made between 8th March 
2019 and 31st July 2019, and include those already reviewed by the Assistant 
Director (Regeneration and Built Environment), Principal Legal Officer and the 
Chair of Licensing Regulatory Committee, up until 11th July 2019. 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers Licences
(Granted / Renewed): 111

Suspended  (Licence Expired): 15
Suspended  (Medical Expired): 1
Suspended  (DBS Expired): 4
Suspended  (any other reason): 1

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licences (Granted / 
Renewed inc’ Change of Vehicles and Transfers) 153

Suspended (Missed Vehicle Test): 55
Suspended (Licence Expired): 15

Private Hire Operator Licences (Granted / Renewed): 2

House to House Collections & Street Collections Permits (Granted): 12

Personal Licence (Licensing Act 2003) (Granted): 19

Animal Welfare (Providing Day Care for Dogs) Licence (Granted): 1

Scrap Metal Site Licence (Granted): 1

Street Trading Consents (Granted / Renewed): 6

Registered Lotteries (Granted): 21

Boatmen and Pleasure Boat Licences (Granted / Renewed): 3

Temporary Event Notices (Licensing Act 2003) (Acknowledged): 25

Skin Treatment Registrations (Granted): 4

Proposed Review Process 

I propose that a review should now be undertaken of the ongoing reporting 
requirement and suggest that a three monthly report is prepared for this 
Committee, summarising the number of delegated decisions.  Any decisions 
where ‘personal / confidential’ matters were considered would be reported as 
a Part II item. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



If acceptable, I also propose that the schedule of reports would commence in 
December 2019, and continue in March 2020, June 2020 and every three 
months thereafter.

Considerations

(i) Legal Implications

There is a need to ensure that the policies and procedures for determining 
licences consistent and fair to avoid legal challenge. The decision must be 
taken in the interests of public safety and should be fair, reasonable, 
proportionate and in accordance with human rights and natural justice 
principles.

In particular Sections 51(1) and 59(1) of the Local Government (Misc. 
Provisions) Act 1976 provides that the Council must assess whether 
individuals’ are suitable persons to hold a drivers’ licence be it hackney 
carriage or private hire.  An applicant has the statutory right of appeal to the 
Magistrates Court under Section 52 and 59 of the Act, should their application 
be refused.  The Councils’ policy also contains an optional right to review to 
the Licensing Regulatory Committee. This does not remove this statutory 
right, but provides for a timely and efficient application process and 
determination. 

(ii) Risk Assessment

If the Council does not fulfil its licensing duties, it may be exposed to legal 
challenges.

(iii) Financial Implications

If a successful legal challenge is made against the Council, costs and  
compensation might be payable.

(iv) Health and Safety Implications

The recommendation has no implications.

(v) Equality and Diversity

The recommendation has no detrimental impact on service users showing any 
of the protected characteristics under current Equalities legislation.

(vi) Health and Well-being Implications

The recommendation has no adverse effect on the Health and Wellbeing of 
users of this service.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



Background Papers

Nil

Report Author: 

Graham Barker (Public Protection Manager)

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



  Part One

LICENSING REGULATORY COMMITTEE                 

Date of Meeting: 5th September, 2019

Reporting Officer:   Commercial Team Leader   

(D)

Title: Working Group Update

Summary and Conclusions: 

This report updates Members of the progress made to date by the Working 
Group who were tasked to look at Disability Provision within the Hackney and 
Private Hire trade within the Borough.  

The report also asks Members to consider approving new work area(s) for the 
Working Group.

Councillor Callister has requested that the Group look at issues around the 
number of tariffs allowed on the meter.

Recommendations: 

That the Licensing Regulatory Committee:- 

1. Consider  the findings of the Working Group in relation to the provision of 
wheel chair accessible vehicles within the Hackney and Private Hire trade 
within the Borough;

2. Consider whether sufficient work has been undertaken to arrive at the 
Working Group’s conclusions;

3. Consider expanding the work programme of the Working Group; and

4. Approve Councillor Callister’s request that the Taxi Working Group look at 
the position relating to metered tariffs and report its conclusions back to 
Licensing Regulatory Committee. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



Report

On 27th June 2019, the Licencing Regulatory Committee recommended that a 
Working Group with Officers, Members and the Taxi and Private Hire Trade 
be set up to discuss disability provision. (Council Minute 28(ii)(1)(ii) 16th July 
2019).

This Working Group was to be chaired by Councillor Callister and the remit of 
the Group was limited to discussion regarding the disability provision. 

Graham Barker, Public Protection Services Manager, sent out invitations on 
behalf of the Chair, Councillor Callister.

On the 9th August 2019, members of the Working Group discussed the topic 
of disability provision and concluded that at present there was enough 
provision within the Borough.

This conclusion was based on the fact that members of the Working Group 
who had wheelchair accessible vehicles stated that their vehicles were 
underused and that a Local company specialising in transportation of disabled 
passengers were meeting current demand.  There has been no contact with 
other stakeholders such as Barrow and District Disability Association.

Further weight was given to this as one member of the Working Group stated 
that the Council had in 2015 conducted an Unmet Demand Survey.  This 
survey did not look specifically at the provision of wheelchair accessible 
vehicles or disability and focussed on provision of Hackney carriage vehicles 
within the Borough. 

The report from the survey stated: “No issues were raised on behalf of elderly 
users, mobility impaired users or minority groups.” 

During the meeting a member of the Working Group introduced a list 
containing several issues for discussion.  Although these issues were 
discussed at length, they related to operational issues which would normally 
be dealt with through the Taxi Liaison Group meetings and it is Officers’ view 
that this is the more appropriate forum for current issues to be raised.   
Working Groups are tasked with targeted, specific and limited pieces of work 
which are often part of a predefined work plan.

A copy of the minutes from the first Working Group meeting are attached at 
Appendix 1. 

(i) Legal Implications

The Working Group must operate within the remit assigned to it by the 
Licensing Regulatory Committee under delegated powers.

Page 16

Agenda Item 8



(ii) Risk Assessment

The recommendation has no, minor or significant implications.

(iii) Financial Implications

The recommendation has no financial implications.

(iv) Health and Safety Implications

The recommendation has no, minor or significant implications.

(v) Equality and Diversity

The recommendation has little impact on users with disabilities.
Although Barrow and District Disability Association  have not been  consulted 
the Licensing Team within  Public Protection Services have not received any 
complaints relating to the lack of wheel chair accessible vehicles or disability 
issues from them or from members of the public. 

(vi) Health and Well-being Implications

The recommendation has little impact on the Health and Wellbeing of users of 
this service.

Background Papers

Vector UK  Unmet Demand Survey 2015.
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3840

Report Author

Ivor Churcher (Commercial Team Leader).

Page 17

Agenda Item 8

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3840
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3840


This page is intentionally left blank



Taxi Trade Working Group – Minutes 9/8/19

Barrow Town Hall

Attendees: Tony Callister (Chair), Ivor Churcher (Commercial Team Leader), Carolyn Woodend 
(Business Support Officer), Edward Clark, Brian White, Jim Linton, Michael Hoad, Bob Mullen, Steve 
Thompson

Apologies: Martyn Bell

1. Welcome and introductions

Disability Provision

Tony began asking about views on current situation regarding Disability Provision.

Bob responded by advising that there is a lot of disability provision already within Private Hire and 
that he couldn’t see anyone willing to invest.

Jimmy asked if the council are obliged to provide this and Ivor advised they aren’t obliged but that is 
considered good to have.  General feeling was that more clarification is needed surrounding this.  
Ivor advised that the council need to find out what the provision is and if it is adequate.

Michael mentioned the unmet demand survey was carried out 4 years ago now. 

Ivor advised he wasn’t aware of that and will look into this.

Steve and Jimmy both felt that no one uses the vehicles they have at present and there was no point 
getting more.

Tony advised that the general feeling amongst the meeting was that the Disability Provisions are 
covered in our area and it was agreed by the drivers that Carefree Travel covers this kind of work. 

ACTION: Ivor to look into this further and review unmet demand survey results. 

Michael provided a list of ‘Suggested items that we can all possibly agree on’ which was handed out 
to all attendees.  List as below:

1. The average age of drivers is much higher than in the past?

This statement was agreed on.

2. Older drivers don’t want to do evening and night times?

General discussion was in agreement.

3. Drivers are leaving the trade and not being replaced?

The general comment across the meeting was that this is correct and no new drivers are coming in.

Page 19

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



4. One way to attract new drivers to the trade is to improve earnings and conditions

This was generally agreed.  Michael advised that everyone should agree on these.

5. The higher fares have stopped some drivers going on the rank instead of doing the firms 
work?

General discussion around this topic, general thought is that a lot of firms are the same price and 
earnings have increased since rank rate changed.

6. Do we need to review fares on a much more regular basis?

This was agreed across the meeting.  Ivor also agreed and that it may be an idea to do this more 
regularly.

7. We need urgent legal clarification on Hackney cars running the meter on stopped?

Ivor gave clarification regarding the by-laws on this and said it is quite ambiguous.  Jim advised it is 
an offence to overcharge. Michael asked for clarification on this as soon as possible as nobody 
knows what they are doing.  There was further discussion regarding this topic and it was agreed Ivor 
will give clarification and Michael said he would let everyone know.

ACTION:  Ivor to look into this further.

8. The council need to put in place a provision for a booking fee urgently?

Ivor advised that this is currently under review.  The drivers wanted to know when this would be 
finalised, and Ivor advised he couldn’t give a date yet.  

Michael advised that drivers have been taking votes on Hackney fares and want to keep them as 
they are.  

Jimmy asked for a rough time and if it would sorted by the next council meeting which is 5th 
September.  Ivor unsure if it will be by then but will keep drivers updated and let them know as soon 
as possible.  

Brian advised it is stopping people making money and if booking fees could just be put into place 
now.  Ivor advised it does need to go to Committee before anything can be decided due to legal 
structure.

Steve advised that booking fees will take away set fares.

The majority agreed that introducing booking fees would be beneficial to them as drivers.  This led 
to a discussion on other council fees like Lancaster.  It was discussed around the meeting that £3.50 
was an idea but it hadn’t yet been discussed within the trade.

ACTION:  Ivor to look into this further and give an update as soon as possible.

9. At the recent drivers meeting drivers voted in favour of postponing any increase in 
hackney carriage rates.  It was widely felt that because of the recent agreement by 
operators to increase fares any increase would be counterproductive?

Page 20

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



This point led to a wide discussion amongst attendees regarding fares and who is entitled to vote.  It 
was then debated that hackney plates are now worthless due to opening up to everyone and there 
was some discussion on this.

Edward advised that if point number 9 backs up number 5, then it isn’t needed.  Brian said that the 
trade is being strangled and Jimmy advised that it isn’t possible just to follow Hackneys and that 
prices need to be kept down to get work.  Brian said he understands this point but commented that 
the only person that gets hurt in the price war is the driver and that if everyone was the same, firms 
would no longer win work by punishing the driver by cutting fares.  The majority of drivers agreed 
with this comment which led to further discussion.

Bob advised that point 1, 2, and 3 are all self-evident and Jim said that the council has a 
responsibility to attract drivers.

Michael Hoad raised the point that it should change to 3 tariffs on a car like other councils such as 
Lancaster and South Lakes and that fees should be increased accordingly.

Ivor advised that this is where the unmet demand comes in.

ACTION: Ivor to look into this and advise.

Michael’s comment regarding the 3 tariffs led to a wide discussion and slight disagreement which 
Tony stated that is an area that needs agreement.  Ivor advised he will clarify at Tony’s request.  
Edward advised that if Hackney carriages only used 3 tariffs it would clarify everything.  Steve didn’t 
agree with this and advised this would be illegal.

ACTION:  Ivor to clarify this and report back.

10. The trade needs some sort of representation on the licensing regulatory committee?

Tony advised that drivers are welcome to attend the meetings except Part 2 which involves sensitive 
and confidential information and advised to check website for dates and times of when they are 
held.

The drivers then mentioned receiving a copy of the policy once it is complete and Ivor advised that it 
will hopefully be available in 2 or 3 weeks time.

Bob raised the point that the Driving Test which is part of the process of becoming a new driver 
should be brought back local and that it is too far away in the middle of nowhere.  He advised this is 
stopping new drivers coming to the trade.  Ivor advised that it is currently the nearest provider to 
offer the service.  Ivor also advised that it is necessary to have specific test due to legislation and the 
government and it is also best practice.  The question was asked about getting a Barrow firm to do 
which Ivor advised he hadn’t personally looked into but Katherine had previously looked at training 
and providers.  Local driving school firm Top Gear was suggested and Michael said he would put this 
forward.

Page 21

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



ACTION: Ivor/Licensing to look into alternative providers and report back.

There was a brief discussion towards the end of the meeting where it was mentioned about the taxi 
counter only being open in the mornings and the drivers wanting more of a service.  Tony advised he 
will ask the questions and also asked the drivers whether they wanted the meetings to be 4 or 6 
weekly.

It was agreed that the meetings would be 4 weekly.

Edward raised a query about taking deposits due to note on the Hackney Carriage tariff stickers 
which he says causing confusion for the customer and there was a brief discussion about this.

ACTION:  Ivor to look into and clarify.

Michael requested urgent clarification of running on stop.  Ivor to action.

Date of next meeting – to be announced

September 2019 

Any queries please contact Ivor Churcher on 01229 876547 or ichurcher@barrowbc.gov.uk

Page 22

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



             Part One

LICENSING REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:    5th September 2019

Reporting Officer:   Commercial Team Leader 

(D)

Title: Zoo Inspection Reports 2019 – Cumbria Zoo Company    
          Limited (CZCL) 
          Zoo Licensing Act 1981 (as amended)

  Zoo Licence – Cumbria Zoo Company Limited
         

Summary & Purpose of the Report:

Cumbria Zoo Company Limited (CZCL) holds a zoo licence issued on 11th May 
2017 to operate a zoo at premises known as South Lakes Safari Zoo (“the Zoo”), 
Melton Terrace, Lindal-in-Furness, Cumbria, LA12 0LU.

Officers have conducted a Special inspection in January 2019 and the annual 
Informal Inspection on the 17th May 2019.  This report considers:

a) The conditions found and the items raised with CZCL at the Special 
Inspection on 7th  January 2019. 

b) The conditions found and the items raised with CZCL at the Informal  
Inspection  carried out on 17th May  2019. 

c) The improvements made at the Zoo following the Informal Inspection of 17th 
May 2019. 

d) Updates Members on compliance with licence conditions. 

Recommendation:

That Members consider the content of the Inspection Reports, their     
recommendations, Cumbria Zoo Company Limited’s response and the Officer’s 
findings; and 

If after giving the licence holder an opportunity to be heard, are not satisfied that a 
condition attached to Cumbria Zoo Company Limited’s licence, granted by the 
Council under the Zoo Licensing Act 1981, is met in relation to the Zoo or a section 
of it, determine whether to apply additional conditions to the licence or to instruct 
Officers to issue Directions under Section 16 of the Act. 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



Contents

1. Background..............................................................................................................3
2. Observations from the Special Inspection – 7th January 2019 ................................4
3. Annual Informal Inspection: 17th May 2019. ............................................................6
4. Representations.....................................................................................................14
5. Officers Report and Summary ...............................................................................25
6. Officer Recommendations .....................................................................................32
7. Considerations.......................................................................................................33

Appendices

1 Cumbria Zoo Company Ltd – Zoo Licence (V.2 – 7th September 2018)

2 Correspondence – Consent to Unannounced Inspections

3 Report – Special Inspection 7th January 2019

4 DEFRA Notice on Zoo Inspection Reports

5 Animal Bite Review

6 Cumbria Police Firearms Protocol – (Not attached)

7 Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice, Section 9 - Stock 

Records

Page 24

Agenda Item 9



1. Background

1.1. Cumbria Zoo Company Limited (“CZCL”) holds a zoo licence issued on 11th May 
2017 (APPENDIX 1) to operate a zoo at premises known as South Lakes Safari 
Zoo, Melton Terrace, Lindal-in-Furness, Cumbria, LA12 0LU (“the Zoo”).  This is an 
‘original’ zoo licence therefore it will last for period of four years.

1.2. Section 11(1)(d) of the Act enables the local authority to carry out special 
inspections of a zoo for which a licence granted by them is in force if they consider 
it appropriate to do so having regard to any other circumstances which in their 
opinion call for investigation.

1.3. Section 12(1) of the Act allows for an informal inspection to be carried out “once in 
any calendar year” but only where no other inspection type is due or anticipated i.e. 
periodical (s.10) or special inspections (s.11 ).

1.4. To provide confidence to Officers and Members of this Committee, that the zoo is 
compliant with its licence, the Act and guidance, the Council wrote to CZCL on the 
27th October 2017, requesting their consent for the Council to undertake 
unannounced inspections, during their first year of operation. In an email dated 29th 
October 2017, Mr Andreas Kauffmann responded on behalf of CZCL, stating:

“I am absolutely fine with unannounced inspections as we shall be compliant 
every single day and not just for inspections when given prior notice.”

 
A copy of this correspondence is attached at APPENDIX 2.

1.5. For Members’ information, the Zoo was inspected on the 7th January 2019 and 17th 
May 2019 and revisited on 31st July 2019. 

Observations and reports from these inspections are included within this report.  

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



2. Observations from the Special Inspection – 7th January 2019

1.6. The Local Authority appointed inspectors (s.11(2))  comprised of:

 Graham Barker (Public Protection Manager); and
 Tracy Howard (Health & Safety Consultant).

1.7. The following purpose and scope of the special inspection was communicated to 
the Zoo in accordance with Section 11(4), by email and post on the 2nd January 
2019:

The primary purpose is to assess Cumbria Zoo Company Limited’s compliance 
with all conditions on your zoo licence and will also examine the following:
 
• Staffing and management including staffing numbers;
• Veterinary provision;
• Accommodation standards including heating;
• Food stores and the levels of food supplies within the food storage area; 
• Waste removal; 
• Shop stock levels; 
• Financial viability; and
• Public Safety.

The scope of the inspection will cover the whole zoo and all aspects of its 
operation.

1.8. CZCL Representatives 

David Armitage, Animal Department Manager and Kim Banks, Deputy Animal 
Department Manager accompanied the inspection team during the inspection.

1.9. A report produced by Graham Barker and Tracy Howard is attached at (APPENDIX 
3).

1.10. The summary of actions and recommendations are detailed below:

Actions

Condition 13. Firearms cover and Protocol regarding escapes.
- Review to be provided to the Licensing Authority by 1st April 2019.

Condition 14. Review of Animal Bites.
- A copy of the 2018/19 review to be provided to the Licensing Authority by 1st 

April 2019.

Recommendations

Condition 4. Pest Control.
- It is recommended that an external pest control company is used to inspect the 

premises on a periodic basis to assess the effectiveness of the treatment and 
rodenticides used.

Page 26

Agenda Item 9



Condition 6. Conservation Measures.
- A summary of these and any other current conservation projects to be provided 

to the LA.

1.11. The Report was sent to CZCL on the 18th January 2019. No comments have been 
received from CZCL.

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



3. Annual Informal Inspection: 17th May 2019.

1.12. The annual informal inspection was undertaken on the 17th May 2019 and the 
inspection team consisted of:

The Local Authority appointed inspectors (s.10(4)(a)(i)  comprised of:

 Dr Matthew Brash B.Vet.Med Cert Zoo Med MRCVS (the Council’s Professional 
Veterinary Advisor) 

 Graham Barker (Public Protection Manager); and
 Ivor Churcher (Commercial Team Leader)

1.13. S.10(4)(c) allows for representatives of the operator [CZCL] (not exceeding a total 
of 3 persons) to accompany the inspectors on the inspection.  In addition the 
inspectors may require the presence of a veterinary surgeon or practitioner 
employed or retained by  the zoo.

1.14. CZCL representatives were:-

 Karen Brewer, CEO;
 David Armitage, Animal Department Manager;
 Kim Banks, Deputy Animal Department Manager; and
 Karen Archer MRCVS.

David Armitage and Kim Banks accompanied the inspection team during the 
inspection.

1.15. Dr Matthew Brash’s report is reproduced in full below: 

Veterinary report on the Annual Informal Inspection of South Lake Safari Zoo on 17th 
May 2019

At the request of Barrow Borough Council I accompanied Graham Barker and Ivor Churcher 
in an Annual Informal Inspection of South Lakes Safari Zoo. Present representing the zoo 
were Kim Zee Banks, Animal Manager, David Armitage, Animal Manager, Karen Brewer 
CEO. Other members of staff were interviewed during the inspection.

Overview.

On the whole the zoo continues to make good progress. Over winter a major overhaul of the 
Maki restaurant has been undertaken, with new catering equipment etc. being installed. The 
shop at the front of the zoo has also been renovated.

In the zoo itself there are a number of projects of maintenance being undertaken for the 
animal exhibits. The outdoor area for the older giraffe house is being renovated; a new 
Nyala enclosure has been built; many indoor houses have been successfully renovated; 
including the big houses, the lemur houses, and the tapir house. |The maned wolf enclosure 
is also in the process of being completely redeveloped.

Diets are being reviewed, with new diet sheets being printed out in blue, clearly showing that 
approximately half of the diets have been reassessed. The level of veterinary care continues 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9



to be high with regular weekly veterinary visits by the veterinary surgeon. An annual audit 
and review of pathological and clinical records has been undertaken. Conservation and 
education continue to be developed, although these were not looked at in detail.

However despite the obvious investments being made to the animal environments some 
areas have fallen below the standards required by the ZLA Act or the SSSMZP. 

Many of these are minor and easily resolved, however of greater concern is the record 
keeping and the pest control. See below.

Recommended Conditions

1. Safety lines in the big cat houses.

Areas within the large cat houses, where members of the public can have access safely, are 
demarcated with white lines. These are faded and difficult to distinguish, and need 
repainting so that visitors can clearly see where they can or cannot stand.

Section 8.14 of the SSSMZP states that; 

The visiting public must not be allowed to enter any buildings or other areas of the zoo 
premises which could present an unreasonable risk to their health and safety. 

Condition.

In order to comply with Section 8.14 of the SSSMZP the zoo licence holder must repaint all 
the safety lines in the large cat houses and maintain the lines in such a way that they are 
clearly visible to the public. The zoo licence holder must ensure that these lines have been 
repainted within one month from the date on which this condition takes effect in accordance 
with section 18(7) of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981

2. Freezers labelled with Meat By- Products

In the off show area, adjacent to the lower entrance to the Illescas aviary, waste food from 
feeding the animals is stored in a freezer. This waste food, categorised as Animal By-
Products, are entire parts of animals, or products of animal origin that are not intended to be 
eaten by humans. Their storage and disposal are regulated to protect human and animal 
health and the environment. 

The freezer, although currently labelled as waste products, is incorrectly labelled, as it must 
be labelled as Animal By-Products with the correct categorisation.

Section 3.24 of the SSSMZP states;

 Clinical waste and refuse must be regularly removed and disposed of in a manner approved 
of by the Local Authority. 

Condition

To comply with Section 3.24 and to ensure that waste is stored and disposed of in a manner 
approved of by the Local Authority, the Zoo Licence Holder must ensure that all containers 
holding Animal By-Products, including freezers, must be appropriately labelled. The zoo 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



Licence Holder must ensure that these containers are suitably labelled within one month 
from the date on which this condition takes effect in accordance with section 18(7) of the 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981. 

3. Handwashing facilities in the Illescas aviary.

The handwashing facilities for the public at the bottom entrance to the Illescas aviary are not 
working effectively as only the cold water tap is working. The basin is also blocked, so that 
they do not drain. 

In areas where there is the potential for visitors to come into contact with animals either 
directly or through contact with contaminated surfaces there must be suitable handwashing 
facilities available. This walk through aviary with the large number of carrion eating animals, 
must be considered an area of potential high risk and so there must be a minimum of warm 
running water, soap and hand drying facilities. Cleansing wipes or anti-bacterial gels would 
not be an acceptable substitute for proper hand washing.  

Section 6.9 of the SSSMZP states; 

The zoo must have adequate hand-washing and sanitising facilities close to contact point 
and obviously signposted. 

Condition

In order to comply with Appendix 6.9 of the SSSMZP, the zoo licence holder must ensure 
that the handwashing facilities in the Illescas aviary are repaired and are functioning, 
providing warm running water available to the public to wash their hands when required. The 
zoo licence holder must ensure that these facilities have been repaired and are working 
effectively within one month from the date on which this condition takes effect in accordance 
with section 18(7) of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

4. Prevention of pests

The effective control of rodents and pests have been a historical issue at CZCL. Pest control 
is now managed in-house. Whilst there was no evidence of a pest issue around the zoo, and 
plenty of evidence of bait boxes, documentation of the process used is poor, for example; 
there is no map detailing where bait boxes are placed, not how often they are checked. 

There is some documentation detailing that bait has been placed in areas, however much of 
this is just loose bait. However in some areas this is not being put out safely, for example; 
behind the pigmy hippo house, bait has been placed down rat holes.  This loose poison is 
within easy access of non-target animals and is also in an area where the public could have 
access.

It is essential to minimise the risks from accidental secondary poisoning and that bait, when 
used, is carefully documented and recorded.

Condition.

 In order to comply with section 3.25 of the SSSMZP, the zoo licence holder must ensure 
that a safe and effective programme for the control or deterrence of pest and vermin must 
be established and maintained throughout the zoo. The zoo licence holder must ensure that 
this programme has been established and implemented within one month from the date on 

Page 30

Agenda Item 9



which this condition takes effect in accordance with section 18(7) of the Zoo Licensing Act 
1981

The following are recommended Directions

1. Ventilation in Animal Houses

The old giraffe house has poor ventilation, and despite the main doors being open there was 
a strong smell of ammonia when the inspection team entered the house. 

The meat kitchen adjoining to the lion house, which shares air space with both the keepers 
meat kitchen and the lion house, has poor ventilation and there was a strong smell of 
ammonia on initially entering the house. 

The tambopata aviary with a shared air space between the aviary birds, and a collection of 
reptiles, has poor ventilation with a strong smell of ammonia on initially entering the house.

In all three cases, the poor ventilation could affect the health of the animals by negatively 
affecting their respiratory system.

Ventilation in the animals’ accommodation has been discussed at previous inspections, and 
in some houses ventilation has been put in place, for example the Kangaroo house. 

Quote;

Report 16/17 January 2017 SLSZ: 

“Many cat houses had high ammonia levels and needed improved ventilation.”

Furthermore in the veterinary hospital, attached to the lemur housing, at the bottom of the 
World Wide Safari walk,  the temperature was excessive. This is due to the greenhouse 
effect of the building and a lack of suitable ventilation.

As a result of the high temperature some animals hospitalised could not be kept in the 
building through the hotter parts of the day, and so were taken outside. 

This could be detrimental to their health and recovery.

Section 2.1 of the  SSSZMP states;

The temperature, ventilation, lighting (both levels and spectral distribution) and noise levels 
of enclosures must be suitable for the comfort and well-being of the particular species of 
animal at all times.

Recommended Direction

The inspection on 17th May 2019 highlighted that the zoo licence holder had failed to comply 
with the following licence condition: 

Accommodate and keep the animals in a manner consistent with the standards set out in 
the Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice.

This licence condition is not met in relation to the whole of the zoo. 

In order to comply with Section 2.1 of the SSSMZP and Section 1A(c) of the ZLA and meet 
the requirements of this condition, the zoo licence holder must ensure that suitable and 
effective ventilation is put in all animals houses as required, including the old giraffe house, 
the tambopata aviary and the veterinary hospital. This action must be completed within one 
month from the date on which this direction takes effect in accordance with section 18(9) of 
the Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



The zoo is not required to be closed to the public during the period in which the zoo must 
make the changes needed to comply with this direction. 

2. Vegetation over-growing the tiger enclosure fencing.

The fencing around the tiger enclosure is approximately 4-5 metres high with an overhang 
inwards. There are three strands of ‘hot wire’ to discourage an animal from attempting to 
climb the fence; one at the bottom, one approximately half way up and a third near the top, 
at the overhang.

In multiple areas the fence acts as a support for climbing plants such as the Clematis 
Montana or ivy. This is reasonable as it screens the fence from the viewing public and also 
gives the animals a more apparent natural environment, provided it is not detrimental to the 
fence as a deterrent to prevent the tigers escaping. However in some areas the vegetation 
has grown and is now hanging over the fence, obscuring and possibly interfering with the 
hot wire, effectively diminishing the effectiveness of the fence to prevent a tiger escaping. 
The vegetation that is falling over the fencing and surrounds the electric hot wire is 
interfering with the effectiveness of the tiger fencing.

Section 8.7 of the SSSMZP states that;

Barriers must be designed, constructed and maintained to contain animals within 
enclosures. Vegetation, climbing structures or other items should be maintained in such a 
way as to not aid escape. 

Recommended Direction

The inspection on 17th May 2019 highlighted that the zoo licence holder had failed to comply 
with the following licence condition in the time specified: 

Prevent escapes and put in place measures to be taken in the event of any escape or 
unauthorised release of animals.

This licence condition is not met in relation to the Tiger enclosure. 
In order to comply with Section 8.7 of the SSSMZP and Section 1A(d) of the ZLA and to 
meet the requirements of this condition, the zoo licence holder must ensure that the climbing 
vegetation on the Tiger perimeter fence must be cut back from the inside of the fence so that 
it does not interfere with the electric fencing wires, and cannot act as an aid for an escape. 
This action must be completed within one month from the date on which this direction takes 
effect in accordance with section 18(9) of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

The Tiger enclosure is not required to be closed to the public during the period in which the 
zoo must make the changes needed to comply with this direction. 

3. Squirrel Monkey enclosure

The squirrel monkey enclosure has a netted roof to ensure that the monkeys are unable to 
escape from their outdoor enclosure. This area is over shadowed by trees and some larger 
branches, twigs and other debris have broken off and are now lying on the netting. Some of 
these dead branches are approximately two metres in length, with a thickness of stem of 
approximately a five to ten centimeters. 
This debris is causing the netting to sag, is likely to rip the netting in time, especially in a 
high wind. This could then act as a potential escape route for the squirrel monkeys.

Section 8.7 of the SSSMZP states that;

Page 32

Agenda Item 9



Barriers must be designed, constructed and maintained to contain animals within 
enclosures. Vegetation, climbing structures or other items should be maintained in such a 
way as to not aid escape. 

Recommended Direction

The inspection on 17th May 2019 highlighted that the zoo licence holder had failed to comply 
with the following licence condition in the time specified: 

Prevent escapes and put in place measures to be taken in the event of any escape or 
unauthorised release of animals.

This licence condition is not met in relation to the Squirrel enclosure. 
In order to comply with Section 8.7 of the SSSMZP and Section 1A(d) of the ZLA and to 
meet the requirements of this condition, the zoo licence holder must develop and implement, 
a written protocol that details the regular removal of debris such as fallen branches, twigs 
and excessive leaves from enclosure netting to ensure that the netting is not damaged by 
the debris, and cannot act as an aid for an escape. A copy of this document must be 
forwarded to the Licensing Authority and the fallen branches must be removed from the 
Squirrel monkey netting within one month from the date on which this direction takes effect 
in accordance with section 18(9) of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

The Squirrel monkey enclosure is not required to be closed to the public during the period in 
which the zoo must make the changes needed to comply with this direction. 

5. ZIMS and records;

The ZLA requires zoos to maintain records of all the stock in their collection. The SSSMZP 
states; 
9.1 Records must be kept and maintained of all individually recognizable animals and 
groups of animals in the zoo. 
9.3 Records must be kept up to date, and be available on site for six years. 

CZCL maintains records in a number of ways. Daily diaries are kept for the regular recording 
of information about the animals’ health and behaviour on a daily basis (e.g. minor ailments, 
husbandry issues, like laying an egg, or not eating food). 
Medical records are kept separately as word documents written by the veterinary surgeon or 
her team. These medical records comprise records of routine visits, individual animal 
treatments, pathological and post mortem records.

All of these records are then normally then transcribed onto the Zoo Information 
Management System (ZIMS), as a permanent record. ZIMS is a worldwide, cloud based 
record keeping system used by most large zoos, for the long term storage of information.

For reasons that are unclear, the ZIMS records are now eight months behind being 
maintained. For some of this time the zoo has not had any access to these records, however 
the inspectors understand that the zoo can now see the historical records, but are not 
allowed to enter more records.

Therefore all the animal records can only be either found in the daily diaries, or as the 
veterinary records.

The veterinary records are perfectly adequate, up to date, and at present all being kept as a 
single word document. This is backed up. They are comprehensive, albeit difficult to track an 
individual records. They are waiting to be transcribed into ZIMS.

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



The daily diaries however are poor, sparsely populated with information in some instances, 
although or in other areas more comprehensive.  For example in one case, no information 
has been written for the months of November and December. 

In many cases they do not have all the required information. There is no back up system in 
place for these records and if lost means that all the husbandry and routine information 
regarding the animals would be lost. 

The inspection team was informed by Karen Brewer, that there had been a mix up with 
Species 360, the company that runs ZIMS, however she was confident that this had been 
resolved and they would soon be using ZIMS. This is encouraging. 

However it is of serious concern that the lack of a suitable robust, comprehensive record 
keeping system has been allowed to continue since late last summer. To recover from this, 
and input all the information into ZIMS, will be an enormous task, and take considerable 
man hours. It is essential that a zoo with many animals that are part of EEP breeding 
programs keeps up to date and comprehensive records in a manner that is easily 
retrievable. 

The ZIMS record keeping system also supplies the information that is required by law to be 
forwarded to the LA annually. It was noted by the inspection team that this year the annual 
stock list submitted to the LA, was initially only a single list of animals present, not the 
required seven column format, and when a seven column format was supplied this had been 
created manually. It is not possible to determine the accuracy of this stock list.

It is also disappointing to note that at a previous inspection, the zoo had been commended 
for the information being documented and recorded;
 
Quote;

Inspection report 17th March 2017; 

“ZIMS used effectively”.

Recommended Direction.

The inspection on 17th May 2019 highlighted that the zoo licence holder had failed to comply 
with the following licence condition in the time specified: 

Keep up-to-date records of the animals, including numbers of different animals, 
acquisitions, births, death, disposals and escapes, causes of deaths and the health of the 
animals.

This licence condition is not met in relation to the whole of the zoo. 

In order to meet the requirements of this condition, and to comply with Sections 3.3 9.1, 9.3 
and 9.4 of the SSSMZP and Section 1A (f) of the ZLA the zoo licence holder must ensure 
that a daily record (or diary) must be maintained for all animals in the collection, that 
includes changes to prescribed diets, health checks carried out, any unusual behaviour or 
activity or other problem and remedial actions taken. These records must be maintained in 
such a way as to ensure the information can be quickly examined, e.g. in ZIMS, kept up to 
date and kept for six years. Where information records are not up to date, these must be 
transcribed into the record system so that all records are fully up to date. This action must 
be completed within three months from the date on which this direction takes effect in 
accordance with section 18(9) of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

Page 34

Agenda Item 9



The zoo is not required to be closed to the public during the period in which the zoo must 
make the changes needed to comply with this direction. 

6. The pool In the Illescas aviary

The large walk through aviary known as the Illescas aviary contains a mixed collection of 
birds including Condors, Vultures, Inca Terns, some waterfowl and Macaws. There is an 
artificial stream running down the centre of the enclosure, ending in a small pool, which is 
regularly used by the waterfowl.
At the time of the inspection, this was stagnant and a vivid green colour due to the algae. 
The pump had broken, therefore the stream was not running, so failing to circulate the 
water.
The animals still had access to this pool. 

The enclosure has a large number of scavenger birds, and the potential for the pool being 
contaminated with bacteria is high. It is essential that reasonable hygiene is maintained to 
ensure that the birds are not affected either by a build up of bacteria, from algal toxins.

Section 2.3 of the  SSSMZP requires;

Enclosures and barriers to enclosures must be maintained in a conditions which presents no 
likelihood of harm to animals.

Recommended Direction.

The inspection on 17th May 2019 highlighted that the zoo licence holder had failed to comply 
with the following licence condition in the time specified: 

Accommodate and keep the animals in a manner consistent with the standards set out in 
the Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice.

This licence condition is not met in relation to the whole of the zoo. 

In order to meet the requirements of this condition, and Section 2.3 of the SSSMZP and 
Section 1A(c) of the ZLA the zoo licence holder must ensure that changes are made to the 
pool in the Illescas aviary to ensure that it is safe for the animals in the enclosure. The pool 
must be drained and cleaned. Prior to refilling the pool  the pump and filtration system must 
be working satisfactorily, and water quality must be regularly monitored. This action must be 
completed within one month from the date on which this direction takes effect in accordance 
with section 18(9) of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981.

The zoo is not required to be closed to the public during the period in which the zoo must 
make the changes needed to comply with this direction. 

Signed
 
Dr M G I Brash Bvet Med Cert Zoo Med MRCVS

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



4. Representations

1.1.On the 20th May 2019, Karen Brewer emailed CZCL’s initial response to the 
inspection findings, most details of which are repeated in CZCL’s formal 
representation. In addition, the following narrative [abridged] was included along with 
additional documentation: training plan, weekly record sheet and photographs:

…Not withstanding any additional changes we may make we have over the weekend 
initiated a training plan which will remove Kim from the day to day keeper rota.  This 
obviously comes into effect as others are trained on the sections Kim covers, we also 
have done exactly the same for Gavin for the periods he acts as her deputy.   I have 
attached the plan just for your observation.   Kim is attending the BIAZA conference this 
week and we will be formulating a rigid job description for the role that is needed.  

.. we have re instigated the original recording system designed for us by John Cracknell 
with 1/2 updated additions, which replaces the daily diaries.  All staff have either attended 
the training sessions held Saturday and again this morning and have also had the 
training document to help them with the content.  We have also initiated some checks 
which will help the integration of the system over the coming days. 

Kelly [Veterinary Nurse] … has been taking monthly UV readings and circulates those in 
the vet list that is circulated prior to a visit in case discussions need to be had ..   

The white lines are freshly painted in all the cat houses;

The squirrel monkey netting is branch free:

Freezers have all been re-labelled as per new regulations.

The illescas pool has been emptied completely and as discussed the fittings to make the 
new pump fit with the existing pipework are due this week.

Page 36

Agenda Item 9



Fences at both tigers and jaguars have been checked and cleared.

1.2.S.14(7) of the Act requires that “within one month of receiving the report of the 
inspection, the local authority shall send a copy to the operator of the zoo and give 
him the opportunity to comment on it.”  On the 10th June 2019 a copy of the report 
was sent to CZCL for comment.

1.3.CZCL submitted their comments on 15th July 2019.  Their correspondence also 
provides an update regarding on-going developments at the Zoo. The content is 
reproduced in full below:

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



We would like to thank the team of inspectors and as always we strive to be the best we 
can, there have been a number of development changes over the year and we are glad 
the inspectors have recognised some of the works being undertaken.

All the critical and immediate essential works have been completed some of which have 
resulted in major infrastructure renewals and so now we move onto the bigger areas of 
development - some of the works underway now will take significant time to complete as 
they do involve major earthworks and drainage etc.

In an effort to be able to experience both best practice, gain a behind the scenes look 
into how other houses in zoos work and to also integrate into the zoo world the team 
have between us visited & attended a significant number of zoos and organised 
conferences both in the UK and in Europe: attended the BIAZA enrichment conference 
and appointed a team enrichment coordinator; the BIAZA research conference and 
appointed research coordinators; the education team have joined the BIAZA education 
meetings and annual meetings; the EAZA design conference in Poland; the EAZA 
conference. All of which is being put into practice and the end results will be inline with 
the latest husbandry guidelines, meet with best practice and something we hope you like 
us will be proud of.

Recommended Conditions

1. Safety lines in the big cat houses.

Entering the cat houses obviously comes with a high risk rating mitigated by a number of 
safety restrictions that are in place.  Members of the public enter the large cat houses 
only accompanied by a senior trained keeper who has undergone training and is signed 
off specifically to carry out that role. That sign off outlines the procedure that must be 
adhered to namely (attached Hand feed training document)

Imposition of a 4 person maximum in the house at any one time
 An age restriction barring children under the age of 7 from entering, under 16s must be 

accompanied by an adult
Delivery of a safety talk to visitors prior to entry – an extract of which is below, and each 
visitor signs to say they have received that “debrief” (attached debrief visitor document)

 The cats WILL claw and bite fingers, or hands if put through the wire or if you are 
standing against the wire.

 DO NOT put fingers near or through the mesh
 DO NOT be tempted to try to make contact with the cats—do not try to stroke or 

touch!
 DO NOT get distracted. CONCENTRATE (the cat will!)
 DO NOT wear anything dangly which the cat may grab – remove scarves, earrings 

etc.
 If you drop any bits of food DO NOT be tempted to pick it up – leave it the keeper will 

retrieve it when it is safe to do so.
 MOST importantly listen to your keeper at all times and follow their instructions.

In the event the “hand feed” session is fully booked there are always 2 members of staff 
timetabled one of which manages the queue leaving the “experience” supervisor free to 
concentrate.

 Once inside the house the experience supervisor has complete autonomy to stop the 
experience at any time if rules are not being adhered to or for any other reason which 
affects the confidence of the supervisor

 White lines are a really good aid for the supervisor to maintain the safe distance between 
visitor and cat by insisting “everyone stand behind the line”. These lines have been a 

Page 38

Agenda Item 9



feature of the cat houses for 2 years and rightly should be maintained as supervisors use 
them daily, lines have been repainted photos have been submitted to the council on 20 
May 2019 and the lines also have been added as part of the 6 monthly house safety 
checklist which is carried out by an independent department, to make sure they remain 
fresh and clearly visible.

Jaguar House as of 20.5.19

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



Lion house as of 20.5.19

Tiger house as of 20.5.19

Page 40

Agenda Item 9



Snow Leopard house as of 20.5.19

2. Meat By- Products

Animal by-products can present a risk to human and animal health, their storage and 
disposal are regulated by the provisions of the Animal By-Products (Enforcement) 
(England) Regulations 2013 which protect human, animal health and the environment.

Waste food from feeding the animals here in the zoo (bones, parts or animals etc.) is 
stored in a freezer situated in the “illescas building” prior to collection by an authorised 
agent.
The freezer, was labelled as waste products, is now clearly labelled as below.
Our annual by-product inspection is due the latter part of August but we have done a full 
review of all our by-product storage and signage, in conjunction with our Balai inspector 
and vet.

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



3. Handwashing facilities in the Illescas aviary.

A daily check is carried out by our housekeeping staff between the hours of 8am and 
10am and no recurring issues have been recorded.  The hand washing in the illescas 
has proven an enigma for the last 2 months, with our maintenance team and external 
engineers being called to a lack of hot water to find the system fully functional on arrival. 
The heating system within the building is an eco air inverter system, as is the same in 
other houses installed by the Landlord.  The unit provides underfloor heating with 
temperature controlled by a thermostat and also supplies the water. On further 
investigation by a systems engineer the installation of the whole system is lacking – or 
wrong for want of a better word, only a one link system has been installed and 
connected where there should be 2 meaning as the building reaches its temperature 
then the system cuts out and will not supply any further warm water. This means in 
basic terms – if it’s hot outside and therefore the building is hot and reached 
temperatures then the system will not push out any hot water; if its cooler outside then 
the system continues to be fully functional as expected.  As the system is fully installed 
incorrectly the engineer is currently looking to split the system – and either connect up or 
add in a separate water link that should be present,

4. Prevention of pests

CZCL employ a designated fully externally qualified Lantra approved pest control team 
who effectively control rodents and pests across the zoo.  The rotas of the team are so 
organized that there is generally one of them to be able to carry out their duties every 
day.  The day starts with a tour of the bait sites and a check of the rodent/pest reporting 
board for any sightings/ issues. There is a zoned map of the site with boxes and live 
traps marked, the team however generally do not use it as they find it is not dynamic 
enough, moving boxes to new sites or adding additional traps means a redraw. They do 
however use the recording list – a list of all the sites with spaces to add on and a diary to 
record corpses.

 

We have as a result of the loose bait found, aside from doing a complete sweep of the 
zoo, identified after speaking with the team further training would be beneficial and 
placed staff on further external courses and the team follow the CRRU UK Code of Best 
Practice.

As a result of this they have instigated recently a new sheet which records all in one 
place - not just where the boxes are sited but both the quantity left, the take (partial or 
full) and any carcass removed.

Page 42

Agenda Item 9



Page 43

Agenda Item 9



The following are recommended Directions

1. Ventilation in Animal Houses

Works to improve ventilation has taken place over the last 2 years in all the houses, 
a number of the areas are in the redevelopment works which will take place over the 
next 12 months and a full review of the effectiveness takes place for each of them.

1.   Meat Kitchen, we have replaced the ventilation fan that had been installed to 
something larger, added a ventilation grill and additional mesh door to aid circulation.

2.   Tambopata. We have just moved the sloth to a redeveloped area of the zoo 
which leaves 2/3 of the building unoccupied and there are plans to restructure that 
whole building which would include ventilation when that happens. Two additional 
vented areas have been included in the works just completed, which included 
additional access points, in the section of the building remaining to be used by the 
birds.

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



3.   Giraffe House – the giraffe house sits in the middle of our current renovation 
project – a full redesign and expansion of the hard standing and giraffe housing is 
underway ventilation features within those plans for the house – the building work will 
take longer than a month as alongside the earthworks the house works includes 
rewiring, replumbing, insulation, heating etc etc in the meantime we have installed a 
ventilation gate at the front of the building to enable a through flow of air.

4.   Veterinary hospital - alongside fans and opening windows an air conditioning unit 
has been purchased for the animal hospital for when temperatures reach excessive 
levels.

2. Vegetation over-growing the tiger enclosure fencing.

The readings from all Cat fences, indeed all electric fences throughout the zoo, are 
taken and recorded daily, animals are not given outside access if the reading of that 
fence falls below a certain level.  (Those levels vary depending upon the animal) 
Those readings can be affected by weather and contamination. We have 5 
members of staff who have been externally qualified to use weedkiller and many of 
the electric fences are total killed at the start of every season - preventing 
overgrowth and contamination from plants.  All the cat fences, not just tigers have 
been fully trimmed and all growth removed from the external part of the overhang – 
where the hotwires are.

3. Squirrel Monkey enclosure

The area has been clear, and is also now included on the weekly walk around 
checks carried out by our grounds team manager, whereas previously it would be a 
situation flagged by keepers or the animal management team it brings a new set of 
eyes to a potential problem.

5. ZIMS and records;

We have re-instigated the original recording system designed for us by John 
Cracknell with 1/2 updated additions, which replaces the daily diaries.
All staff have either attended the training sessions held a number of times Saturday 
and have also produced the training document to help them with the content. We 
also initiated some checks which will help the integration of the system over the initial 
days and going forward.

6. The pool In the Illescas aviary

The pool was emptied until the pump repaired and replaced, parts were already on 
order at the time of inspection and were awaiting delivery these have since arrived 
and everything is back operational therefore the ponds have been refilled.

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



1.4. Cumbria Zoo Company Ltd has been invited to today’s hearing and has been 
informed that they may be represented legally or otherwise.

Page 46

Agenda Item 9



5. Officers Report and Summary

1.1. For Members’ information the Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA), Animal Health Team have recently sent Notice to the Council 
reminding the Secretary of State Inspectors and Local Authorities of their 
duties to deal with non-compliance and the enforcement obligations of Local 
Authorities in relation to enforcement of conditions:

Notice to Zoo Inspectors, Zoo Operators and Local Authorities.

1. Defra is committed to ensuring best practice in the zoo inspectorate and to a clear,
consistent inspection process.

2. It is important that zoo inspection reports provide an accurate summary of a zoo’s
compliance with the requirements of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981 (ZLA) and the
Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice (SSSMZP), and that areas of
non-compliance, no matter how small, are highlighted to Local Authorities. 

1.2. A copy of the full Notice is attached at APPENDIX 4. In addition this was 
emailed to CZCL on the 20th January 2019. 

1.3. During the past 8 months Council Officers and Dr Matthew Brash, the 
Council’s Veterinary Advisor, have inspected South Lakes Safari Zoo (SLSZ) 
on the 7th January 2019, 17th May 2019 and 31st July 2019. 

1.4. From the 7th January 2019 inspection, a review of Animal Bites (Condition 14) 
has been submitted on the 1st April 2019, (APPENDIX 5). 

1.5. A recent review of the Firearms Protocol has been undertaken with Cumbria 
Constabulary and we are awaiting their response. We understand there have 
been no revisions to the protocol and are currently awaiting confirmation from 
Cumbria Firearms Division.  This will form APPENDIX 6.

1.6. The reporting Officer has sought the opinion of Dr Brash, on the action taken 
by CZCL in response to the inspection and his report. In his response by email 
he states:

Email dated 17/7/19 from Dr Brash. 
Dear Ivor,

Many thanks for your email. My opinion is as follows;

The following recommended conditions appear to have been complied with, 
as documented by photographic evidence;

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



1. Safety lines in the big cat houses.
 
2. Meat By- Products

Therefore the above two conditions can be considered complied with, prior 
to the license being amended.

The following two recommended conditions do not appear to have been 
complied with, and so should go onto the licence;

3. Hand-washing facilities in the Illescas aviary. There is no evidence that 
this is has been fixed, just that they have determined that there is a 
problem. The essential need here is functioning hand-washing facilities in 
this area at all times when the public may come in contact with biological 
material. This therefore needs to go onto the licence until they have 
remedied the problem.

4. Prevention of pests. Whilst they accept that there was a problem, and 
have put measures in place to try to ensure that the pest control is 
undertaken correctly, I suggest that this does go onto their licence, until 
such time as you check that it is being done in a legally complaint and safe 
manner over a period of time.

The following were recommended directions. I would remind you that 
Directions do not go on the licence.

1. Ventilation in Animal Houses. This has not been done, and so must be 
enforced.

2. Vegetation over-growing the tiger enclosure fencing. They say that this 
has been undertaken. No photographic evidence has been submitted to me 
to demonstrate this. I suggest that once you have verified physically that it 
is done, then this does not need to be enforced.

3. Squirrel Monkey enclosure. Similarly they say that this has been done, 
but there is no photographic proof. Again I suggest that if you physically 
verify it, then this does not need to be enforced.

4. ZIMS and records; They have put in place more robust record keeping, 
especially with regards to the daily diaries. However there is a legal 
requirement that records are kept in a manner that makes them easily 
retrievable, up to date and kept for six years. For a large zoo, it is 

Page 48

Agenda Item 9



reasonable to expect them to be using ZIMS (or equivalent), particularly as 
they have a number of species that are members of EEPs.
There is no evidence that they have caught up on the record keeping, 
reinstated ZIMS (or equivalent). I refer you to Section 9 of the SSSMZP. 
Until they have caught up on their records, and this has been verified, then 
this does need enforcing.

6. The pool In the Illescas aviary is now working. Provided this is verified, 
then this does not need to be enforced.

So In summary;

Conditions 3 and 4 do need to go onto the licence, and Directions 3 and 4 
need enforcing. The other directions need verifying that they have been 
complied with.

              Email dated 6/8/19 from Dr Brash.

Ivor,

Many thanks for your email. Considering that they have already had a 
significant period of time to complete or at least start this work, I think three 
months is reasonable.

With regards to the Giraffe ventilation, this would take us into October, and 
the giraffe are likely to then be spending time indoors, as the temperature 
drops, which would then prevent work from being done. As they spend 
more time indoors, the ventilation will also become an increasing issue. 
Ventilation is also something that we have discussed with them before.

With regards to the record keeping, this is more difficult to comment. Three 
months is reasonable as their original excuse at the time of the inspection 
was there was a problem with their registration with ZIMS, and this surely is 
resolved now. So it is just a matter of putting in place man power to put in 
the back log of data, and ensure that up to data is also recorded.

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



1.7. On the 31st July 2019, the Reporting Officer re-visited the Zoo to ascertain the 
current status of the outstanding matters. Please see inspection notes and 
photographs below.

1.7.1. Hand washing facilities in the Illescas Aviary:

Visit confirmed that hot water is now available at the wash station within the 
Illescas Aviary. An electric Hot Water Heater has now been installed and is 
providing a piped hot water supply for members of the public to wash their 
hands.

Karen Brewer has advised that this is only a temporary fix as the problem lies 
with the way that the original heating system was installed. Basically the 
current system will not provide hot water when the outside  air temperature is 
relatively high. If it is hot outside the interior of the building will be hot and the 
system will not provide any hot water.

 CZCL  has employed the services of “Abbey Cool Ltd” to work on  to 
reconfigure the system  which will resolve the issue permanently. This work is 
scheduled in to take place at the end of this summer.

1.7.2. Prevention of Pests:

The issue related to the indiscriminate placing of rat poison outside of a baiting 
box on land adjacent to the Hippo House. During a Health & Safety visit to the 
Zoo on 6th June 2019 it was confirmed that staff members have now been 
retrained in correct baiting techniques. Additional checks have been put in 
place to ensure that there are no health and safety or potential animal 
poisoning issues. (Anna Gillard carries out weekly checks of baiting stations 
throughout the Zoo). My walk round today (31/7/19) confirmed that satisfactory 

Page 50

Agenda Item 9



measures are now in place for the treating of pests. (No signs of any pest 
activity at any of the baiting sites examined).

      

1.7.3. Ventilation in Animal Houses:

Visit today confirmed additional ventilation has been provided in several of the 
animal houses. 

Ventilation at present is mainly by natural means as several of the animal 
enclosures     now have additional windows, mesh screen doors.

The Giraffe House has been provided with mesh windows at lower and upper 
levels within the house. This is only a short term fix as the Giraffe House is 
due for refurbishment.

The refurbishment/development of the Giraffe House is due to start later on 
this year.

Advised by Karen Brewer and David Armitage that permanent ventilation will 
be provided, although no definite timescale as yet.

Meat Prep room / big cat house 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



Giraffe House

Tambopata Aviary 

Page 52

Agenda Item 9



Vet Room

1.7.4. Stock Records:

The issue surrounding the adequacy of the animal records was highlighted by 
Dr Brash during the 17th May 2019 inspection.

The Zoo had not been using the ZIMS System to log information re diet, illness, 
behavioural changes etc and was using daily diaries to record such issues. 
Many of the diaries were incomplete and actions noted were either not recorded 
in enough detail or followed up.  Karen Brewer has advised that they have 
reverted back to a recording system originally designed for them  by  Dr  John 
Cracknell who previously advised CZCL.

Today I reviewed the records for one individual animal, a Black and White 
Belted ruffled Lemur which was being treated for an eye infection. I looked at 
four individual daily section reports which detailed the treatment of this animal. 
From these individual sheets I could see the treatment that the animal was 
receiving and the comments made by the keeper into the ongoing condition of 
the animal.

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



I was also shown on the PC the vet’s record of the treatment for this animal.

Discussion with Kim Banks Deputy Animal Department Manager confirmed that 
the only back up for these records was on PC hard drive in medical area.

Also advised that backlog of records had not been addressed since the 
17th May 2019 inspection and that no uploads have been made to ZIMS, 
the backlog increasing each day.

There was an issue with one of the records which I was shown: 

The Daily Section Reports Sheets refer to the treatment of vvs020, a Black and 
White Belted Ruffled Lemur which had an eye infection. All of the Daily sheets 
refer to this animal as vvs020 while the medical treatment records relate to 
another Lemur vvs021.   Discussion with CZCL veterinary nurse confirmed that 
this was just a typing error. 

For Members information a copy of the Secretary of State’s Standards of 
Modern Zoo Practice, Section 9 - Stock Records, is attached at APPENDIX 7.

1.8. Summary:  

Adequate supplies of hot water have now been provided at Illescas aviary.
Pest Control system verified to be operating in compliance with Health and 
Safety requirements. Good site plan and monitoring system now in place. No 
issues noted during walk round on 31st July 2019. 

Ventilation in Animal Houses has improved but not to the required level.

Stock Records have improved although not to a standard as required in 
SSSMZP.

6. Officer Recommendations

 That Members consider the content of the Inspection Reports, their     
recommendations, Cumbria Zoo Company Limited’s response and the 
Officers findings; and 

 If after giving the licence holder an opportunity to be heard, are not 
satisfied that a condition attached to Cumbria Zoo Company Limited’s 
licence, granted by the Council under the Zoo Licensing Act 1981, is met in 
relation to the zoo or a section of it, determine whether to apply additional 
conditions to the licence or to instruct Officers to issue Directions under 
Section 16 of the Act. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 9



7. Considerations

(i) Legal Implications

The Zoo requires a licence to be able to open to the public and the Zoo Licensing 
Act 1981 makes the local authority responsible for administering the Licence. 
Anyone running a Zoo without a licence is guilty of an offence.

11  Special inspections

(1)     The local authority may at any time carry out a special inspection of a 
zoo for which a licence granted by them is in force if they consider it 
appropriate to do so having regard to--

(a)     any periodical report on the zoo made to them pursuant to section 10; 
or

(b)     any representations made to them on behalf of a properly constituted 
body concerned with any aspect of the management of zoos or the welfare 
of animals; or

(c)     any report on the zoo made to them pursuant to an inspection [in 
accordance with section 9A or] under the provisions of section 12; or

(d)     any other circumstances which in their opinion call for investigation.

(2)     A special inspection under this section shall be conducted by persons 
who appear to the local authority to be competent for the purpose and who are 
authorised by the authority to conduct the inspection.

(3)     Where the purpose of the inspection relates to the health of animals, the 
inspectors shall include (or, if one, the inspector shall be) a veterinary surgeon 
or veterinary practitioner with experience of animals of kinds kept in the zoo.

(4)     On appointing persons under subsection (2), the authority shall 
communicate to them and to the operator of the zoo the purpose and scope of 
the inspection.

(5)     Paragraphs (c) to (e) of subsection (4) and subsections (5) to (7) of 
section 10 apply to a special inspection as they apply to a periodical inspection 
except that the references in subsections (4)(d), (4)(e) and (5) to features and 
records and improvements are references only to features and records and 
improvements relevant to the purpose and scope of the special inspection.

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



Section 12  Informal inspections

(1)     Without prejudice to sections [9A,] 10 and 11, the local authority shall 
make such arrangements as they think fit to ensure that any zoo for which a 
licence granted by that authority is in force is inspected informally by an 
inspector once in any calendar year in which no inspection is made under 
those sections.
(2)     The inspector shall be appointed by the authority and shall be a person 
appearing to the authority to be competent for the purpose of the inspection.

The Local Authority’s power to alter a licence is contained within Section 16 of 
the same Act

(1) At any time after the grant of a licence under this Act, it may be altered by 
the local authority if in their opinion it is necessary or desirable to do so for 
ensuring the proper conduct of the zoo during the period of the licence 
(whether their opinion arises from an inspectors’ report or an alteration of 
standards specified under section 9 or otherwise). 

(4) allows the licence to be altered by varying, cancelling or attaching a 
condition to the licence (or a combination of any of those methods).

Section 16A  Enforcement of licence conditions

(1)     Subsection (2) applies where the local authority, after giving the licence 
holder an opportunity to be heard, are not satisfied that a condition attached to a 
licence granted by them under this Act is met in relation to the zoo or a section 
of it.
(2)     Unless subsection (3) applies, the authority shall make a direction 
specifying-

(a)     the licence condition which they are not satisfied is met;
(b)     whether they are not satisfied that that condition is met in relation to--

(i)     the zoo; or
(ii)     a section of the zoo, and if so, which section;

(c)     steps to be taken by the licence holder to ensure that that condition is 
met in relation to the zoo (or, if a section of the zoo is specified under 
paragraph (b)(ii), in relation to that section) within a period specified in the 
direction, which may not exceed two years from the date of the direction; and
(d)     whether the zoo or a section of it is required to be closed to the public 
during that period or any part of it specified in the direction.

Page 56

Agenda Item 9



(3)     This subsection applies if the authority have power to make a zoo closure 
direction under section 16B(5) and they exercise that power.
(4)     The authority may, after giving the licence holder an opportunity to be 
heard, make a direction under this subsection varying a direction under 
subsection (2) (including such a direction as varied by a direction under this 
subsection).
(5)     A direction under subsection (4) may increase the period specified in the 
direction under subsection (2)(c) or (d), but the period as increased must not 
exceed two years beginning with the date of the direction under subsection (2).
(6)     A direction under subsection (2) (including such a direction as varied by a 
direction under subsection (4)) may be revoked by a further direction of the 
authority.

There is a right of appeal under Section 18 to the Magistrate’s Court if the 
holder of the licence wishes to challenge the decisions of the Committee.

18  Appeals

(1)     A person aggrieved by--
(a)     the refusal to grant a licence;
(b)     any condition attached to a licence;
(c)     any variation or cancellation of a condition;
(d)     the refusal to approve the transfer of a licence;
(e)     a direction under section 13(8)(c) or 16A(2) or any variation of such a 
direction;
(f)     a zoo closure direction;
(g)     the refusal to approve a plan prepared under section 16E(2);
(h)     a direction under section 16E(6) or any variation of such a direction; or
(i)     any arrangements under section 16E(7) or (8), may appeal to a 
magistrates' court. 

(2)     Any such appeal shall be brought within [twenty-eight] days from the date 
on which the person wishing to appeal receives written notification of the 
authority's decision [as to the matter in question]; but an appeal may be brought 
under this section whether or not the authority's decision was made in pursuance 
of a direction of the Secretary of State under this Act.

(3)     On an appeal under this section to a magistrates' court, the court may 
confirm, vary or reverse the local authority's decision and generally give such 
directions as it thinks proper, having regard to the provisions of this Act.

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



(5)     The procedure on an appeal to a magistrates' court under this section shall 
be by way of complaint for an order, and the Magistrates' Courts Act 1980 shall 
apply to the proceedings.

The Council have the power to prosecute for a failure to meet a licence condition 
under Section 19 of the Act.

(ii) Risk Assessment

Section 16A  Enforcement of licence conditions (as above) applies

Section 19 of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981 - Offences and penalties

(2) If the operator of a zoo fails without reasonable excuse to comply with any 
condition for the time being attached to a licence for the zoo granted under this 
Act and held by him, he is guilty of an offence.

(4) A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding [level 4 on the standard scale] for an offence 
under subsection (1), (2), (3A), (3B), (3C), (3E), or (3F) and [level 3 on the 
standard scale] for an offence under subsection (3), (3D) or (3G).

(5) Where an offence under this section committed by a body corporate is 
proved to have been committed with the consent or connivance of, or to have 
been attributed to any neglect on the part of, any director, manager, secretary 
or any other similar officer of the body corporate, or any person who was 
purporting to act in any such capacity, he, as well as the body corporate, is 
guilty of that offence and liable to be proceeded against and punished 
accordingly.

(iii) Financial Implications

The Council may be subject to an appeal against the Committee’s decision in 
the Magistrates’ Court under Section 18 of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981. 

(iv) Key Priorities or Corporate Aims

None identified

Page 58

Agenda Item 9



(v) Equality and Diversity

Not applicable

(vi) Other Human Rights

All licence holders have a right to a fair and public hearing

(vii) Health and Well-being Implications

The ZLA contains requirements to ensure the public who visit zoos can do so 
safely and to ensure that the wider public are not put at risk by the Zoo’s 
operation.

Background Papers

Licensing Regulatory Committee 9th May 2017. Reports, Minutes & Decision Notice; 
and
Licensing Regulatory Committee 5th October 2017. Reports & Minutes.
Available from:
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/about-the-council/barrow-council/council-minutes-
agendas/licensing-regulatory-committee/
Licensing Regulatory Committee 6th September 2018. Reports & Minutes. 
Available from: 
https://democracy.barrowbc.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=146&Meeti
ngId=229&DF=06%2f09%2f2018&Ver=2 

SSSMZP (Secretary of State's Standards of Modern Zoo Practice) 
Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/69596/standards-of-zoo-practice.pdf
 
Report Author

Ivor Churcher (Commercial Team Leader).

Page 59

Agenda Item 9

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/about-the-council/barrow-council/council-minutes-agendas/licensing-regulatory-committee/
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/about-the-council/barrow-council/council-minutes-agendas/licensing-regulatory-committee/
https://democracy.barrowbc.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=146&MeetingId=229&DF=06%2f09%2f2018&Ver=2
https://democracy.barrowbc.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=146&MeetingId=229&DF=06%2f09%2f2018&Ver=2
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69596/standards-of-zoo-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69596/standards-of-zoo-practice.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

South Lakes Safari Zoo Licence ZZ23203                 (V.2 – 7
th
 September 2018)

  

Barrow Borough Council  

 Licensing Section   
 Town Hall, Duke Street 

 Barrow-in-Furness Cumbria       
                                                                                  LA14 2LD 
                                                                                  Tel: 01229 876543 
                                                                                  Fax 01229 876411 
                                                                                                              Email: commercial@barrowbc.gov.uk 
                                                                                 www.barrowbc.gov.uk/licensing 

 

 

Zoo Licensing Act 1981(as amended)   ZZ23203 
 

LICENCE TO OPERATE A ZOO 
 

 

       
Barrow Borough Council, being a local authority responsible for licensing zoos under the 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981(as amended) (‘the Act’) HEREBY LICENCE  

 

Name of licence applicant: Cumbria Zoo Company Limited 

 

Office held:  South Lakes Safari Zoo, Zoo Offices, Melton Terrace, Lindal-in-Furness, 

Cumbria, LA12 0LU 

 

To operate the premises known as: SOUTH LAKES SAFARI ZOO, Melton Terrace, 

Lindal-in-Furness, Cumbria, LA12 0LU (‘the Zoo’) 
 
Situated within the area of the said authority, subject to the conditions attached to this 
licence. 

   

 

This licence is issued in accordance with the Act for a period of four years and shall remain 
in force from: 

      Valid from: 11
th

 May 2017 Expires: 10
th

 May 2021    
 

 

IMPORTANT NOTES 
 
 It is specifically brought to the licensees attention that the use of this licence does not 

imply that the requirements of any legislation relevant to the zoo, other than the above 
Act, have been met or complied with.  

 
 

 Signed:             Dated: 7
th
 September 2018 

 
GRAHAM BARKER 
PUBLIC PROTECTION MANAGER 

On behalf of Barrow Borough Council 
 

 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

mailto:commercial@barrowbc.gov.uk
http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/licensing


 

South Lakes Safari Zoo Licence ZZ23203                 (V.2 – 7
th
 September 2018) Page 1 of 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Zoo Licence Version Control Table 

Version 1 Issued 11/05/2017 Original zoo licence 

Version 2 Issued 07/09/2018 
Condition 15(a) and Condition 15(c) removed from 
licence following Licensing Regulatory Committee 
6

th
 Sept 2018. 

   

   

   

   

Page 62

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 

South Lakes Safari Zoo Licence ZZ23203                 (V.2 – 7
th
 September 2018) Page 2 of 5 

 

 

ZOO LICENCE - SOUTH LAKES SAFARI ZOO 

 

LICENCE CONDITIONS 

 

DIRECTIVE CONDITIONS 

(IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 1A OF THE AMENDED ACT) 

 

The operator of the Zoo must ensure that the following measures are implemented 

in the Zoo: 

 
1. Promote public education and awareness about biodiversity conservation. In 

particular, provide information about the species of wild animals kept in the zoo 
and their natural habitats. 

 
 

2. Accommodate and keep the animals in a manner consistent with the standards 
set out in the Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice. 
 
 

3. Prevent escapes and put in place measures to be taken in the event of any 
escape or unauthorised release of animals. 

 
 

4. Introduce practical measures designed to prevent the intrusion of pests and 
vermin into the premises of the zoo. 

 
 

5. Keep up-to-date records of the animals, including numbers of different animals, 
acquisitions, births, death, disposals and escapes, causes of deaths and the 
health of the animals. 

 
 

6. Participate in at least one of the following:- 
 

 Research which benefits the conservation of wild animals.  

 Training in relevant conservation skills. 

 Exchanging information about the conservation of wild animals. 

 Breeding of wild animals in captivity. 

 Repopulating an area with wild animals, or re-introducing wild animals. 
 

The zoo must keep information to show how it has complied with this condition 
and supply it to the Local Authority upon request. 

 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 

South Lakes Safari Zoo Licence ZZ23203                 (V.2 – 7
th
 September 2018) Page 3 of 5 

 

 

STANDARD CONDITIONS 

 

 
7. Insurance 

 
Within one month of the date of the licence and one month of the date of renewal 
of the policy, where applicable, a copy of the zoo's current public liability insurance 
policy, and of subsequent renewals thereof, to be sent to the Licensing Authority. 

 
 

8. Stocklist 
 
A copy of the zoo's annual stocklist, as defined by the Secretary of State's 
standards of modern zoo practice, shall be forwarded to the Licensing Authority by 
1st April of the year following that to which it relates. 

 
 

9. Hazardous animals 
 
The Licensing Authority shall be notified in writing at least one month in advance 
of the proposed addition of any animal listed in Category 1 of the Hazardous 
Animal categorisation (see Appendix 12 of the Secretary of State’s Standards of 
Modern Zoo Practice) which is from a taxonomic family of which Category 1 
species have not previously been kept in the zoo 

 
Such notification shall include all plans and strategies necessary to safely contain 
any such animal.  All such notifications, plans and strategies shall be approved by 
the Licensing Authority and fully implemented and in place prior to the arrival at 
the Zoo of any animal detailed in the notification. 

 
 

10. Temporary removal of Category one animals 
 
The licensees shall notify the Licensing Authority before the temporary removal 
from the zoo (other than for veterinary attention or inter-zoo movements) of any 
animal listed in the Category 1 of the Hazardous Animal categorisation of 
Secretary of States Standards of Modern Zoo Practice, as currently amended.  
Such notification shall be given as early as possible and, in any case, no later 
than 12 hours before the removal, unless the zoo operator and Licensing Authority 
mutually agree a shorter period. When giving notification, details of the destination 
and method of transportation of the animal and of the arrangements for its well-
being, as well as for the safety of the public whilst it is away from the zoo, to be 
provided. 

 
 

11. Escapes 
 
In the event of any non-domestic animal escaping from the confines of the zoo, 
notification shall be made to the Licensing Authority as soon as possible and, in 
any case, not later than 24 hours following the escape. 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 

South Lakes Safari Zoo Licence ZZ23203                 (V.2 – 7
th
 September 2018) Page 4 of 5 

 

 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS 
 
 
12. Animal Escapes 

 
If the policy / procedure relating to animal escapes changes a copy shall be sent 
to the Licensing Authority within one month of being made. 

 
 

13. Firearms cover and Protocol regarding escapes 
 
a)  In accordance with 8.20 and 8.34 of the SSSMZP there must be an agreed 

and written protocol for liaison with the Cumbria Constabulary in response to 
the escape of an animal outside of the perimeter of the licensed premises and 
appropriate firearms cover for the premises. This must be reviewed on a 
yearly basis and be provided to the Licensing Authority upon review. 

 
b)  A MINIMUM of two firearms ‘users’ shall be on-duty at all times during opening 

hours.  At least one of these should be an established user with at least the 
initial training and the other user shall have at least one year/six ‘range days’ 
experience in the role, or as agreed between the Zoo and the Firearms 
Operation Unit at Cumbria Police. 

 
[Timescale – immediate and annually on 1

st
 April] 

 
 

14. Review of Animal Bites 
 
a)  In accordance with Appendix 6 paragraph 6.14 of the SSSMZP, a suitable and 

effective action plan that, as far as reasonably practicable, eliminates bites 
and injuries must be put in place. The action plan must be implemented fully, 
its effectiveness monitored and be reviewed annually. 

 
b)  In accordance with 8.14 of the SSSMZP, all contact injuries to visitors from 

animals must be reported to the Local Authority within 14 days. 
 

 

15. Management and Staffing Structure 
 
a)  To ensure continued compliance with Section 1A of the Act and Section 10 of 

the SSSMZP, the licence holder must ensure an Animal Director (or 
equivalent) is employed on a permanent and full-time basis; 

 
b) The Animal Director (or equivalent) must have the ability to make decisions 

independent of the registered land owner; and 
 
c) The Animal Director (or equivalent) must have overall senior responsibility for 

all aspects of the Zoo relating to the animal collection, including but not limited 
to:- 

• Animal Welfare and Veterinary Care; 
• Husbandry; 
• Breeding; 
• Accommodation (including design); 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 

South Lakes Safari Zoo Licence ZZ23203                 (V.2 – 7
th
 September 2018) Page 5 of 5 

 

• Dangerous Animal Security; 
• Conservation Programmes; 
• Research; 
• Collection Planning; and 
• Inter-Zoo Liaison. 

           
[TIMESCALE:- For the initial appointment of the Animal Director (or 
equivalent) – 31

st
 July, 2017 (evidence to be provided to the Licensing 

Authority) and thereafter ongoing. Condition 15(b) shall remain on the 
licence indefinitely.] 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 66

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



1

Graham Barker

From: Andreas Kaufmann <andreas@gowild.at>

Sent: 29 October 2017 17:50

To: Anne Chapman

Cc: Graham Barker

Subject: Re: Unannounced Special Inspections - Section 11 of Zoo Licensing Act 1981 (as 

amended) [ZLA]

 
Dear Anne, 
 
I am absolutely fine with unannounced inspections as we shall be compliant every single day and not just 
for inspections when given prior notice. I also appreciate that these inspections will not put financial burden 
on us as we are trying to spend available funds wisely on moving forward and improving the zoo. 
 
I will be at the zoo until 9th November, from November 25 until December 6, and from December 13-20 
before I go home for christmas. 
 
Kindest regards, 
Andreas 
 
 
 
Andreas Kaufmann 
Managing Director 
----------------------------------------------- 
GoWILD KG 
Zoo & Wildlife Consulting Services 
 
A-8212 Pischelsdorf 166 
AUSTRIA 
T AT:  +43 664 73 860 661 
T UK: +44 7927 55 6010 
E: office@gowild.at 
www.gowild.at 
 
FN 325952 t l LG Graz l UID: ATU 64878822 
 
 
 

 
 

Am 27.10.2017 um 18:54 schrieb Anne Chapman <achapman@barrowbc.gov.uk>: 
 
Dear Andreas, 
  
Following our unannounced informal inspection in early August 2017, the Council thinks it would be 
beneficial to carry out further unannounced inspections of the zoo.  
  
As the Council can only carry out one informal inspection a year, further inspections would be 
classed as special inspections which are defined under section 11 of the ZLA.  Normally zoos are 
given prior notice of a special inspection with the purpose and scope being sent to the zoo before 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2



2

the inspection takes place.  Therefore to enable special inspections to take place unannounced, 
would you consent to them taking place without prior notice, with the purpose and scope of the 
inspection being provided to you at the point of entry on the day of the inspection? 
  
Additional unannounced visits would provide confidence to Officers and also the Licensing 
Regulatory Committee that the zoo is compliant with its licence, the ZLA and guidance.  It would also 
show willingness to work with the Council in an open and transparent manner and this would be 
reported in subsequent Committee reports.  I can also confirm that for unannounced special 
inspections during the first year of the Zoo’s licence, the Council would not seek to recover the costs 
associated with the attendance of Inspectors on the inspection. 
  
Finally if you could advise me of the days when you will be present at the Zoo during the rest of 
2017, I would be very appreciative. 
  
If you’d like to discuss this further please don’t hesitate to contact me on the number below. 
  
Kind regards 
  
Anne 

<image001.png>  

Anne Chapman  (Environmental Health Manager) 

<image002.png> 

Borough of Barrow-in-Furness 

Town Hall, Barrow-in-Furness, Cumbria LA14 2LD. 

Email: achapman@barrowbc.gov.uk  |  Tel: (01229) 876386  

<image003.png>  <image004.png>  <image005.png>  <image006.png> 

Housing | Recycling | Planning | Environmental | Leisure 

  
  
  
  

Barrow Borough Council - Enhancing the economic and social future 

of the Borough. 

  

Think - UK businesses use 2 million tonnes of paper each year - do 

you really need to print this e-mail? 

  

This e-mail and any files transmitted with it are confidential and 

intended solely for the use of the individual to whom it is 

addressed. Any view or opinions presented are solely of the author 

and do not necessarily represent those of Barrow Borough Council. 

If you are not the intended recipient you may not use, disclose, 

distribute, copy, print or rely on this e-mail. If you have received 

this e-mail in error please contact the sender. 

Page 68

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

 

Zoo Licensing Act 1981 

Appendix 11B Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice /  

National Assembly for Wales Standards of Modern Zoo Practice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Authority Annual Informal / Special Inspection Report  
 

Date of Inspection 

 

Name of Institute 

   

 

Name of Owner 

 

 

Address of Institute 

  

 

 

 

 

Trading Name  

 

Business address  

(if different from above) 

 

 

Zoo representative in  

attendance at 

Inspection  

 

LA officer in attendance 

at inspections 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Lakes Safari Zoo  

MeltonTerrace, 

Lindal-in-Furness, 

Cumbria  

LA12 0LU 

South Lakes Safari Zoo 

As above 

 

Cumbria Zoo Company Limited 

 

Kim Banks and David Armitage  

07/01/19 

Graham Barker – Public Protection Manager 

Tracy Howard – Consultant Environmental Health 

Officer 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

 

 

 

1. Have conditions applied at previous formal inspection been complied with; 

 

                                        Yes / No  

 

       Outstanding Condition Issues (if applicable); 

 

Condition Works to be 

completed  

Date(s) of 

Completion  

Observations/ comments 

  

 

  

  

 

  

  

 

  

 

Additional comments 

Condition 13. Firearms cover and Protocol regarding escapes 

 

a)  In accordance with 8.20 and 8.34 of the SSSMZP there must be an agreed and 

written protocol for liaison with the Cumbria Constabulary in response to the escape of 

an animal outside of the perimeter of the licensed premises and appropriate firearms 

cover for the premises. This must be reviewed on a yearly basis and be provided to the 

Licensing Authority upon review. 

[Timescale – immediate and annually on 1st April] 

 

COMMENT: Review to be provided to the LA by 1st April 2019. 

 

 

Condition 14. Review of Animal Bites 

 

a)  In accordance with Appendix 6 paragraph 6.14 of the SSSMZP, a suitable and 

effective action plan that, as far as reasonably practicable, eliminates bites and injuries 

must be put in place. The action plan must be implemented fully, its effectiveness 

monitored and be reviewed annually. 

 

COMMENT:  CZCL have implemented changes to the lemur feeding experience and 

Illescas Aviary walk-through which have resulted in no reported incidents for a number 

of months.  A copy of the 2018/19 review to be provided to the LA. 

 

Page 70

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

 

 

2. Where conditions have not been complied with does further action need to be taken; 

 

1. Elevate to Direction order - No 

 

2. Extend period of time for compliance with Condition - No 

 

3. Seek advice from LA Zoo Veterinary advisor or from S of S inspector - No 

 

 

3. Are animals owned by the zoo held on other premises?     No 

 

         If yes please give details below; 

 

 

 

         Have these premises been inspected?   N/A 

 

4. Is a pest control Programme in place and effective?     Yes  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

5. Is feeding of animals permitted by members of the public?    Yes  

 

         If yes for which species of animals is feeding allowed? 

A pest control management programme is in place however this is managed in-

house and it is recommended that an external pest control company is used to 

inspect the premises on a periodic basis to assess the effectiveness of the 

treatment and rodenticides used. Good levels of cleaning in animal areas and 

feed rooms was being maintained since the last special inspection. A bait 

recording sheet is used to monitor changes over time and sightings of droppings. 

A few old droppings were seen in the Africa House and feed room but very few 

and much improved since the last special inspection in 2018. 

Condition 6.  Participate in at least one of the following:- 

 

 Research which benefits the conservation of wild animals.  

 Training in relevant conservation skills. 

 Exchanging information about the conservation of wild animals. 

 Breeding of wild animals in captivity. 

 Repopulating an area with wild animals, or re-introducing wild animals. 

 

The zoo must keep information to show how it has complied with this condition and 

supply it to the Local Authority upon request. 

 

COMMENT: CZCL are supporting the following projects: Arthurs Army (White Rhino), 

Japari Bear Project, Red Panda Ranger and a Carbon-free Dining project. A summary 

of these and any other current conservation projects to be provided to the LA. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 

6. Have risk assessments for feeding of animals by public been carried out?   Yes         

Have these been checked?    Yes.  

 

 

 

7. Are risk assessments carried out and recorded for: 

 

a) Feeding Practices      Yes  No     

b) Staff animal interactions   Yes  No 

c) Venomous species  N/A   Yes  No 

d) Animal Contact Situations   Yes  No  

e) Escape/Release of animals    Yes  No  

f) Visitor areas      Yes  No 

g) Staff use of Equipment   Yes  No 

 

 

x 

x 

x 

x 

x 

x 

Giraffes 

Penguins 

Lemurs 

Tigers 

Ducks and wildfowl 

Some ongoing reviews on health and safety risk assessments which will impact 

on the format of the risk assessments and inclusions for animal contact and 

zoonoses control. These should be completed by the end of February 2019. No 

animal incidents were reported to the local authority since the last special 

inspection and none were identified.  All Senior Managers have attended an 

IOSH Managing Safely course completed in December 2018 and now an external 

consultant called Nigel Bromiley is being used to assist the zoo with any reviews 

so that the risk assessments have more clarity and are specific to the activity.  

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

  

 

8. Are emergency procedures carried out and recorded?   Yes  

 

 

9. Have four emergency drills been undertaken in the year?   Yes  

 

          

10. When was the last escape drill undertaken?  

 

 

11. What are Firearms requirements and are they being met?   Yes  

 

 

12. Have there been any escapes since the last inspection?   Yes  

There is a question whether staff going into the outdoor enclosures with the artic 

wolves (that are classed as category 1 carnivores under the Dangerous Wild 

Animals Act 1976) is an accepted safe system of work. This issue is being dealt 

separately under health and safety regulations, however the practicalities of 

disturbing the wolves into the indoor den (which they don’t use very often as they 

live outdoors in dens) may create risks due to a change in their normal behaviour 

patterns and cause stress. The zoo managers were advised to contact other zoos 

with wolf species and review further best practice on this matter. Maintenance 

workers entering the enclosure are supervised by trained keepers and this 

procedure has been updated in a reviewed risk assessment. Longer term plans are 

to partition the outdoor enclosure so that the wolves may be separated whilst not 

creating any disturbance to their environment. Any changes should meet current 

husbandry guidelines for wolves.  Firearms are on stand-by as part of day-to-day 

operations but firearms aren’t specifically taken every time staff enter the enclosure.      

 

Hand-rearing of young animals was discussed and how this may impact staff 

working hours. Currently there are no hand-reared animals and a dynamic risk 

assessment would be undertaken in such circumstances.  

 

Reviewed planned drills and actual escapes. 

 

Cabybara, Spider Monkey and Baboon escapes (Practice and actual)  

 

 August 2018 

2 personnel on duty at any time. 6 on rota. Recent staff changes have resulted in 

new staff being added to the rota. One new staff member Simon needs to do more 

practices as part of his training then he can be added to the rota.  

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 

 

13. Was the LA notified?                No 

 

 

14. Have there been any reportable accidents under RIDDOR in the last year?   

 

 

15. Is there an accident book?     Yes     

Baboons - internal escape not external to perimeter. 

 

N/A Not a health and safety inspection however no RIDDOR reports made to the LA 

in the last twelve months. 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

Additional comments 

 

 

Summary of Actions / Recommendation 

 

Actions 

 

Condition 13. Firearms cover and Protocol regarding escapes 

- Review to be provided to the Licensing Authority by 1st April 2019. 

 

Condition 14. Review of Animal Bites 

 

The primary purpose of the inspection was to assess Cumbria Zoo Company Limited’s 

compliance with licence conditions and to examine the following: 

 

   • Staffing and management including staffing numbers; 

   • Veterinary provision; 

   • Accommodation standards including heating; 

   • Food stores and the levels of food supplies within the food storage area; 

   • Waste removal; 

   • Shop stock levels; 

   • Financial viability; and 

   • Public Safety. 

 

Although loosing some keepers earlier last year, current staffing levels are similar to 

those maintained historically; (10 keepers including David Armitage and Kim Z Banks 

plus 4 trainees, supported by a full time veterinary nurse, a veterinary surgeon and 

veterinary consultant from IZVG). 

Veterinary provision continues to be supplied by Karen Archer and the team from IZVG. 

A new vet nurse joined last year. 

Heating within the Africa house and the old giraffe house continues to be monitored 

daily and was in the 12 – 17oC range. Attached at APPENDIX 1 is the development plan 

for 2019 which includes works already underway such as improved and updated 

internals to the lemur house, the tamarin house internal and  externals and new 

enclosures.  See attached photos at APPENDIX 2. The foods stores were stocked with 

fresh produce and dry food, deliveries twice a week. Animal houses were clean and no 

noticeable build-up of animal or food wastes. 

Works were underway for the refit of the Maki Restaurant and the entrance shop. Shop 

stock as being minimised into a smaller location for the refit during the Zoos’ quietest 

month of January.  

No animal contact incidents recorded with the public.  

Kim confirmed that visitor numbers had been good this year. Karen Brewer confirmed 

she had the draft accounts and forecasts for 2019 and would send them the LA once 

approved.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

- A copy of the 2018/19 review to be provided to the Licensing Authority by 

1st April 2019. 

 

Recommendations 

 

Condition 4. Pest Control 

- It is recommended that an external pest control company is used to inspect the 

premises on a periodic basis to assess the effectiveness of the treatment and 

rodenticides used. 

 

Condition 6. Conservation Measures 

- A summary of these and any other current conservation projects to be provided 

to the LA. 

 

 

Signed:  Graham E Barker 

  Tracy Howard     Dated: 11/01/2019   

Page 76

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



Page 77

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



From: Graham Barker
To: Graham Barker
Subject: Tamarin House & New Tapia / Manned Wolf enclosure
Date: 09 January 2019 15:07:54

Page 78

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3

mailto:gebarker@barrowbc.gov.uk
mailto:gebarker@barrowbc.gov.uk
gebarker
Typewriter
 

gebarker_1
Textbox
Maned Wolf enclosure



Page 79

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



Graham Barker 
Public Protection Manager

Page 80

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



Notice to Zoo Inspectors, Zoo Operators and Local Authorities.  

1. Defra is committed to ensuring best practice in the zoo inspectorate and to a clear, 

consistent inspection process.  

 

2.  It is important that zoo inspection reports provide an accurate summary of a zoo’s 

compliance with the requirements of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981 (ZLA) and the 

Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice (SSSMZP), and that areas of 

non-compliance, no matter how small, are highlighted to Local Authorities.  

Zoo Inspectors and Local Authorities 

3. A zoo must be considered either compliant or not. Where a zoo is compliant with the 
SSSMZP and the ZLA then this must be marked by the zoo inspection team with a 
‘Yes’. Where there is non-compliance, however minor, this must be marked by the zoo 
inspection team on the report as a ‘No’. ‘No’ with a clear explanation of the non-
compliance is the correct method to communicate non-compliance, and is particularly 
important as supporting detail in situations when a condition or direction is 
subsequently recommended to the Local Authority. Further details of the degree of 
non-compliance can be recorded in the comments sections of the inspection report. If 
the non-compliance is minor then this can be raised by the inspector here. 
 

4. All zoo licences include standard conditions requiring compliance with section 1A of 
the ZLA, as set out in the zoo licence template at page 51 of the Zoo Licensing Act 
1981, Guide to the Act’s Provisions (the Guide)1. Section 4(2A) of the ZLA requires 
that Local Authorities shall refuse to grant a licence for a zoo if they are not satisfied 
that the conservation measures referred to in section 1A will be implemented in a 
satisfactory manner at the zoo. All licensed zoos in GB should now be meeting the 
requirements of section 1A. If they are not the Local Authority should carefully consider 
whether it is appropriate to grant a new licence or to renew a licence to a zoo which is 
not in compliant with these section 1A requirements. Where a zoo is granted a licence 
but it is not fully compliant with a section 1A requirement the Local Authority should be 
mindful that it must then immediately follow the enforcement flow chart set out at page 
48 to the Guide. 
 

5. The flow chart on page 48 of the Guide clearly sets out the enforcement obligations on 
Local Authorities in relation to enforcement of conditions included in zoo licences. 
Where a Local Authority determines that a condition attached to a zoo licence granted 
by it has not been complied with it must, after giving the licence holder an opportunity 
to be heard (section 16(1)(A) of the ZLA), make a direction under section 16A(2) of the 
ZLA2   
 

6. Issuing a direction under section 16A(2) requires, after giving the licence holder the 
opportunity to be heard, the Local Authority making a direction to set out which part of 
the licence condition has not been met, the steps the licence holder must take to 
comply, the time period in which this must be done (not exceeding two years) and 
whether the whole zoo or a section of it must be closed while the necessary steps are 
taken. 
 

7. Zoo inspectors should therefore highlight in their report where a zoo is not compliant 

                                                           
1 The Guide can be found here: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69595/z
oo-licensing-act-guide.pdf  
2 Unless it has already made a zoo closure direction, where permissible, under section 16B(5) ZLA. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 4



with a licence condition (either a section 1A condition or a condition specific to that 
zoo). This will enable the LA to meet its obligation under the ZLA. Where non-
compliance is minor (e.g. impacts only one enclosure or a small part of the zoo) the 
inspector is recommended to highlight in the comments section that the other areas of 
the zoo inspected were considered to meet the SSSMZP. 
 

8. A new mandatory training course for zoo inspectors will be available from January 
2019, where this process will be explained to those in attendance. We expect all 
inspectors to be completing inspections using the correct legal process from the date 
of their next inspection.  

 

Zoo operators:  

9. We do not expect there to be any implications for zoos that are already fully compliant 
with the current SSSMZP and the requirements of the ZLA. However, should your 
establishment be found to not be fully compliant on your next inspection, there is the 
potential that you may have conditions or directions recommended on the inspection 
report. There has been no change to the existing law which provides adequate time to 
comply with conditions (up to the remaining duration of the licence) and directions (up 
to two years).  

 

Page 82

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 4



Page 83

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 – To follow

Page 85

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice

21

Section 9 - Stock records

9.1 Records must be kept and maintained of all individually recognisable animals and 
groups of animals in the zoo. Where possible, animals should be individually identifiable.

9.2 The records must be kept either on a card index or computer, or other type of retrieval 
system from which information can be quickly examined.

9.3 Records must be kept up to date and be available on site for six years. Provision 
should be made for long-term archiving in a secure format.

9.4 The records must provide the following information:

a) identification and scientific name;

b) origin (i.e. whether wild or captive-born, including identification of parents, where 
known, and previous location/s, if any);

c) dates of entry into, and disposal from, the collection and from and to whom;

d) date, or estimated date, of birth or hatching;

e) sex (where known);

f) any distinctive markings, including tattoos, freeze-brands, rings or microchips;

g) clinical data, including details of and dates of any treatment given;

h) behavioural and life history data;

i) date of death and the result of any post-mortem examination and laboratory 
investigations;

j) where an escape has taken place, or damage or injury has been caused to, or by, 
an animal to persons or property, the reason for such escape, damage or injury 
must be recorded and a summary of remedial measures taken to prevent 
recurrence should be provided;

k) food and diets.

9.5 In addition to the individual records, an annual stock record of all animals must be 
kept. A copy must be forwarded to the local authority no later than 1 April of the year 
following that to which it relates. The annual stock record must include the following:

a) common and scientific names of the species;

b) total in the collection at 1 January;

c) number of arrivals into the collection from all outside sources during the year;

d) number of births or hatchings within the collection during the year;

e) number that died including culls;

Page 87

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 7



Secretary of State’s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice

22

f) number that departed the collection, including sales, breeding loans, etc.;

g) total remaining in the collection at 31 December;

h) the sex of each animal, where known, must be recorded – e.g. 1.2.3 indicates 
one male, two females and three unsexed. 

9.6  The records should be set out in a multi-column format as follows, or should be similar 
to those that are produced by ZIMS or ARKS.

Common 

Name

Scientific 

Name 

Group at 

1.1.2011

Arrived Born Died Depar

ted

Group at 

31.12.2011

White-

naped 

Crane

Grusvipio 2.1.1 0.2.1 0.0.2 1.0.0 0.1.0 1.2.3

Page 88

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 7


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	7 Delegated Decisions: March - July, 2019
	8 Working Group Update
	Appendix 1 - Taxi Trade Working Group Minutes

	9 Zoo Inspection Reports 2019 - Cumbria Zoo Company Limited (CZCL) - Zoo Licensing Act 1981
	Appendix 1 COPY Licence SEPT 2018
	Appendix 2 Email 27 & 29 Oct 2017 - Acceptance of Unannounced Inspections
	Appendix 3 CZCL Jan 2019 LA Zoo Inspection Report
	Appendix 3 Report  CZCL Jan 2019 LA Zoo Inspection.pdf (p.1-8)
	Appendix 3 Report  CZCL Jan 2019 APPENDIX 1 - Programme.pdf (p.9)
	Appendix 3 Report  CZCL Jan 2019 APPENDIX 2 - Tamarin House & New Tapia _ Maned Wolf enclosure PHOTO.pdf (p.10-12)

	Appendix 4 DEFRA Notice on Zoo Inspection Reports
	Appendix 5 Animal Bite Review
	Appendix 6 - To Follow
	Appendix 7 SSSMZP Section 9 Stock Records




